SHORT-TERM INTERMITTENT PARATHYROID HORMONE 1-34 ADMINISTRATION AND BONE VASCULAR ALTERATIONS IN C57BL/6 MICE

by

SEUNGYONG LEE

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at Arlington in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT ARLINGTON

August 2018

Copyright © by Seungyong Lee 2018

All Rights Reserved



	I certify that I have read this dissertation and that in my opinion it meets the academic and professional standard required by the University as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.
Signed:	
	Rhonda Prisby, PhD Professor in charge of dissertation
	I certify that I have read this dissertation and that in my opinion it meets the academic and professional standard required by the University as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.
Signed:	
	Paul Fadel, PhD Member of dissertation committee
	I certify that I have read this dissertation and that in my opinion it meets the academic and professional standard required by the University as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.
Signed:	
	Marco Brotto, PhD Member of dissertation committee
	I certify that I have read this dissertation and that in my opinion it meets the academic and professional standard required by the University as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.
Signed:	
	Zui Pan, PhD Member of dissertation committee

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people for their contribution in support of this dissertation. I would never have been able to complete this thesis without the guidance of my advisor, committee members, faculty at UT Arlington, support from friends, and my family in my country and beloved wife and kids.

I would like to primarily thank my advisor and dissertation director Dr. Rhonda D. Prisby, for the devotion and exceptional contribution to this project. I will never forget the investment of time, effort, and expertise she made to this dissertation. She has been a constant influence throughout my doctoral career with both academic and financial support. Furthermore, I am very thankful to my committee members Dr. Paul Fadel, Dr. Marco Brotto, and Dr. Zui Pan for their discerning insight related to my dissertation and career, and for their support, and for inspiring comments. I must also acknowledge the faculty of Kinesiology department at UT Arlington for the academic support and inspirations which influenced this project and my personal academic development.

My doctoral work could not be accomplished without the support, encouragement, and best wishes from my parents and siblings whom towards I have a great sense of gratitude. Finally, I would like to show a huge appreciation to my beloved wife, Hyeyoung Kim and my children Jaehoon E. Lee and Yuna S. Lee. My children provided invaluable mental support and encouragement that, sometimes, helped me to remain focused and to set the direction where I needed to go. Hyeyoung has always being wonderful to me. She has cheered me up in difficult times and supported her husband every single moment, through thick and thin.

July 24, 2018

Abstract

SHORT-TERM INTERMITTENT PARATHYROID HORMONE 1-34 ADMINISTRATION AND BONE VASCULAR ALTERATIONS IN C57BL/6 MICE

Seungyong Lee, PhD

The University of Texas at Arlington, 2018

Supervising Professor: Rhonda D. Prisby

Advancing age is associated with progressive bone loss, declines in vasodilator capacity of blood vessels, vascular rarefaction and bone marrow blood vessel ossification. Intermittent parathyroid hormone (PTH) administration augments bone volume and is an anabolic agent used to treat osteoporosis in a duration-dependent manner. In animal research, at least 15 days of intermittent PTH administration is required to achieve bone accrual. However, physiological stimuli such as intermittent PTH administration effects the bone vascular system more rapidly; i.e., changes in the bone vascular system precede alterations in bone. Intermittent PTH administration also increases vasodilator capacity of bone blood vessels; however, data regarding its influence on bone blood flow and angiogenesis

are variable. Further, intermittent PTH administration relocated bone marrow blood vessels closer to sites of bone formation, presumably directing blood flow to areas of high metabolism. A potential mechanism by which this may occur is via the secretion of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9, which participates in extracellular matrix remodeling, the migration and homing of cells, and angiogenesis. In contrast, intermittent PTH administration may have unaddressed negative consequences. Bone marrow blood vessel ossification is the progressive conversion of blood vessels into bone with advancing age. Given its role in bone formation, intermittent PTH administration may exacerbate this pathology.

Thus, I sought to quantify ossified bone marrow blood vessels, bone vascular density, the distance between trabecular bone surfaces and bone blood vessels, and the role of MMP-9 in relation to age (Mature vs. Middle-Aged) and short-term (5- and 10-days) intermittent PTH 1-34 administration. The animal ages selected in this dissertation coincide with the initiation of bone loss and bone vascular impairment across the life span. Also, the short duration of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration allows for the assessment of vascular changes prior to the changes in bone.

Specific Aim 1 assessed the influence of short-term (5- and 10-days) intermittent PTH 1-34 administration on bone and bone marrow blood vessel ossification in Mature (6-8mon; n=30) and Middle-Aged (10-12mon; n=30) male and female C57BL/6 mice. Bone parameters were unaltered; however, ossified

vessel volume tended (p=0.057) to increase and ossified vessels were 44% thicker (p<0.05) in Middle-Aged vs. Mature mice. Additionally, ossified vessels tended (p=0.08) to be 41% thicker following 10 days of PTH treatment.

Specific Aims 2 and 3 assessed the influence of short-term intermittent PTH 1-34 administration on bone microarchitecture and bone static and dynamic properties, bone vascular density, the distance of bone marrow blood vessels (1-29 μ m, 30-100 μ m and 101-200 μ m in diameter) from trabecular bone, and MMP-9 density, area and localization in relation to trabecular bone and bone marrow blood vessels. Mature (n=60) and Middle-Aged (n=60) male and female C57BL/6 mice received PTH 1-34 or a vehicle for 5- and 10-days consecutive days. The number of small (1-29 μ m) bone marrow blood vessels was increased (*p*<0.05) by day 10, coinciding with augmented (*p*<0.05) MMP-9 density closest (*p*<0.05) to these smaller (1-29 μ m) blood vessels. The overall effects of intermittent PTH administration on the bone vascular system are positive. However, the data reveal a troubling tendency in regards to bone marrow blood vessel ossification, which may ultimately impact blood flow delivery to bone with advancing age.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgementsiv
ABSTRACTvi
List of Figuresxv
List of Tables xvii
1 Introduction18
1.1 References
2 Review of Literature
2.1 Bone Structure
2.2 Bone Histomorphometry and Microcomputed Tomography
(µCT)29
2.2.1 Bone Histomorphometry
2.2.2 Microcomputed Tomography
2.2.3 Comparison of the Two Methods
2.3 The Bone Basic Multicellular Unit (BMU) and Bone
Remodeling Compartment (BRC)
2.4 The Bone Vascular Network
2.4.1 Bone Vascular Morphology

	2.4.2	Bone Vascular Function
2.5	Bone.	
	2.5.1	Age-Related Morphological Changes in Bone42
	2.5.2	Age-Related Functional Changes in Bone44
2.6	Age-R	elated Alterations in Bone Blood Vessels46
	2.6.1	Reduced Vascular Function46
	2.6.2	Reduced Vascular Density
	2.6.3	Bone Marrow Blood Vessels Ossification
2.7	Effects	s of Parathyroid Hormone on Bone53
	2.7.1	Continuous PTH Administration54
	2.7.2	Intermittent PTH Administration55
2.8	Effects	s of PTH on the Bone Vascular Network57
	2.8.1	Increased Vasodilator Capacity of Bone Blood Vessels58
	2.8.2	Increased Bone Perfusion60
	2.8.3	Angiogenesis61
2.9	Matrix	Metalloproteinase (MMP)-963
	2.9.1	The Role of MMP-964

		2.9.2	PTH and MMP-966
	2.10	Challe	enges67
	2.11	Specif	ic aims68
	2.12	Refere	ences70
3	Sho	rt-Term	Intermittent PTH 1-34 Administration and Bone Marrow
	Bloc	od Vess	el Ossification in Mature and Middle-Aged C57BL/6 Mice
	3.1	Abstra	
	3.2	Introd	uction103
	3.3	Mater	als and Methods106
		3.3.1	Intermittent Parathyroid Hormone Administration and
			Sample Preparation107
		3.3.2	Micro-Computed Tomography (MicroCT) Scans and
			Analyses108
		3.3.3	Statistical Analysis109
	3.4	Result	s109
		3.4.1	Mouse Characteristics109

		3.4.2	Effects of Age and Intermittent PTH Administr	ation on
			Trabecular and Cortical Bone Parameters	110
		3.4.3	Effects of Age and Intermittent PTH Administr	ation on
			Bone Marrow Blood Vessel Ossification	113
	3.5	Discus	ssion	116
	3.6	Confli	icts of Interest	123
	3.7	Ackno	owledgements	123
	3.8	Refere	ences	123
4	Sho	rt-Term	Intermittent PTH 1-34 Administration St	timulates
	Ang	iogenes	sis and Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 Secretion in Fe	emora of
	Mat	ure and	Middle-Aged C57BL/6 Mice	133
	4.1	Abstra	act	134
	4.2	Introd	luction	135
	4.3	Mater	rials and Methods	139
		4.3.1	Intermittent Parathyroid Hormone Administrat	ion and
			Sample Preparation	139
		4.3.2	Immunolabeling	140
		4.3.3	Bone Vascular Density	142

	4.3.4	Spatial Distribution of Bone Marrow Blood Vessels from
		Trabecular Bone143
	4.3.5	MMP-9 Density, Area and Localization144
	4.3.6	Bone Microarchitecture145
	4.3.7	Bone Static Properties145
	4.3.8	Bone Dynamic Properties146
	4.3.9	Statistical Analysis146
4.4	Result	s147
	4.4.1	Mouse Characteristics147
	4.4.2	Effects of Age and Intermittent PTH Administration on
		Bone Vascular Density147
	4.4.3	Effects of Age and Intermittent PTH Administration on
		MMP-9 Density and Area151
	4.4.4	Distances between Bone Marrow Blood Vessels and
		Trabecular Bone Surfaces153
	4.4.5	Distances between MMP-9, Bone Marrow Blood Vessels,
		and Trabecular Bone Surfaces156
	4.4.6	MMP-9 Localization in Relation to Bone Marrow Blood
		Vessels and Trabecular Bone159

		4.4.7 Bone Microarchitecture and Bone Static and Dyna	ımic
		Properties	.160
	4.5	Discussion	.162
	4.6	Conflicts of Interest	.166
	4.7	Acknowledgements	.166
	4.8	References	.167
5	Futu	e Directions	.172
6	App	ndix A	.174
7	Biog	raphical Information	.176

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Vascularization of bone vascular network by an epoxy resin
<u>perfusion.</u>
Figure 2.2. Normal and ossified bone marrow blood vessels
Figure 3.1. Representative images of (A) trabecular bone microarchitecture and
(B) cortical thickness in Mature and Middle-Aged CON, 5dPTH,
and 10dPTH mice112
Figure 3.2. Representative images of bone marrow blood vessel (BMBV)
ossification in mature and middle-aged CON, 5dPTH, and 10dPTH
<u>mice.</u> 114
Figure 3.3. Main effects of age (panels A & B) and intermittent PTH
administration (panels C & D) on ossified bone marrow blood
vessel (BMBV) parameters (i.e., OsVV, and OsV.Th)115
Figure 4.1. The density of CD31- and aSMA-labeled bone marrow blood
vessels following 5- and 10-days of intermittent PTH 1-34
administration
Figure 4.2. Main effects for age and treatment on the density and area of MMP-
<u>9.</u> 152

Figure 4.3. The	e distance	of CD31- a	and aS	MA-labeled	l bo	ne m	arrow bl	boc
vess	sels from	trabecular	bone	following	5-	and	10-days	of
inte	rmittent PT	<u>TH 1-34 adm</u>	ninistra	<u>tion.</u>	•••••		•••••	155
Figure 4.4. Comp	parison of N	MMP-9 loca	lization	in relation	to b	one m	arrow bl	00 <u>d</u>
vessel	<u>ls (1-29µm</u>	<u>, 30-100µm</u>	101-20	00µm in dia	amet	er) ar	nd trabecu	<u>ılar</u>
bone.								160

List of Tables

Table 3.1. Trabecular and cortical bone parameters following short-term
intermittent PTH 1-34 administration in Mature and Middle-Aged
<u>mice</u> 111
Table 4.1. The main effect of age on the density of CD31- and α SMA-labeled
bone marrow blood vessels149
Table 4.2. The main effect of age on the distance of CD31- and α SMA-labeled
bone marrow blood vessels from trabecular bone
Table 4.3. The main effect of age on the distance of MMP-9 from CD31- and
aSMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone
Table 4.4. The main effect of treatment on the distance of MMP-9 from CD31-
and α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone

Table 4.5. Bone microarchitecture and bone static and dynamic properties .. 161

Chapter 1

Introduction

The vascular system delivers oxygen and transports nutrients and systemic hormones to bone and bone marrow, and removes waste products [1-3]. In addition, bone blood vessels are also essential components of hematopoietic stem cell niches [4, 5], supply precursor cells to site of bone remodeling [6, 7], and are fundamental constituents of bone multicellular units (BMU) [8, 9] and bone remodeling compartments (BRC) [7, 10]. Since bone cannot exist without a vascular supply, the skeletal system is dependent upon blood vessels [11]. For these reasons, the bone vascular system is crucial for bone growth during development, metabolism and homeostasis.

Long bones (e.g., the femur, tibia, etc.) consists of cortical and trabecular bone, and the medullary cavity within the shaft is occupied by bone marrow [12, 13]. Trabecular bone provides strength and structural support for the ends of the long bone [14], whereas cortical bone forms the diaphysis (i.e., the shaft of the long bone) and outer surfaces of the metaphyses and epiphyses (i.e., the ends of the long bone) [15]. The medullary cavity within the shaft consists of bone marrow cells (e.g., stromal and hematopoietic) and a vascular network. The skeleton is a highly dynamic and active tissue that continuously undergoes remodeling so that newly synthesized bone replaces old or damaged bone [15]. Cortical bone remodeling results from the activities of BMU consisting of osteoclasts, osteoblasts, and capillaries [8, 9]. Trabecular bone remodeling results from the activities of BRC, once again comprising of osteoclasts, osteoblasts, and capillaries [7, 10]. Although BMUs and BRCs exist at different bone compartments (i.e., trabecular and cortical), they perform the same function; i.e., the remodeling of bone. Present within every BMU and BRC is a capillary that provides nutrients, oxygen, and precursor cells to the sites of remodeling. Thus, bone remodeling cannot occur without blood vessels and vascular impairment induced by aging, disease and/or treatment play an integral role in bone homeostasis.

Advancing age often results in vascular decline in terms of diminished bone blood flow [16-19] and reduced vasodilator capacity of bone arteries [17]. In fact, age-related declines in bone blood flow and impaired vasodilation are closely associated with reduced bone volume [17] and strength [16]. Additionally, several investigations have reported declines in bone vascular density (i.e., the number of blood vessels) in aged individuals [20] and animals [21, 22].

In addition to alterations in vascular function and density, a novel pathology has been recently discovered that may have a dramatic impact on bone [22]. Bone marrow blood vessels progressively undergo structural changes, resulting in severe calcium and mineral deposition [22]. This pathology has been coined "bone marrow blood vessel ossification"; i.e., the theoretical conversion of blood vessels into bone [22]. Ossification was observed in young and old rats and in elderly patients with arteriosclerotic vascular disease and peripheral vascular disease with cellulitis [22]. Progressive ossification theoretically leads to "microvascular dead space"; i.e., loss of vasomotor function, a failure to control blood flow, and diminished patency [22]. Thus, bone vascular dysfunction, which includes bone marrow blood vessel ossification, presumably impairs the delivery of oxygen, nutrients, systemic hormones and precursor cells to bone and bone marrow, contributing to bone loss associated with advanced age.

Bone loss associated with advancing age is often treated with parathyroid hormone (PTH), an anabolic agent used to treat osteoporosis [23]. Under *in vivo* physiological conditions, PTH 1-84 is a systemic hormone produced in the parathyroid glands and mobilizes calcium from bone in response to low calcium levels in the blood [24]. Recombinant PTH 1-34 (i.e., Teriparatide) is a N-terminal fragment of PTH 1-84 and the only FDA-approved bone anabolic agent in the United States [25]. When administered intermittently (i.e., one injection per day), PTH regulates bone cellular communication [23] to induce bone formation. The bone anabolic actions of intermittent PTH administration is duration-dependent, therefore at least 15 days of treatment is necessary to detect bone gains in rodent models [31].

In addition to its effects on bone, PTH influences the vascular system. For example, intermittent administration of PTH improved vasodilator capacity in rat aorta [26] and bone blood vessels [27]. In some investigations, PTH augmented skeletal perfusion [28, 29]. These vascular alterations coincide with enhanced bone volume and bone mineral density [27, 30-32]. Moreover, physiological stimuli related to intermittent PTH administration effects the bone vascular system quicker than bone [28].

In regards to angiogenesis, 14 days of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration improved bone vascular density in the tibia of mice that corresponded with increased bone formation rate, but did not alter trabecular bone volume [28]. On the contrary, bone vascular density was lower in rats treated with intermittent PTH 1-84 for 15 and 30 days [31]. However, in this investigation, PTH had another effect on the bone vascular network. Subsequent to PTH treatment, bone marrow blood vessels (<29µm in diameter) were spatially closer to sites of bone formation (i.e., osteoid seams) [31]. These data are supported by the examination of blood vessels in human bone biopsies, whereby capillary number was augmented next to sites of bone remodeling [33]. Thus, these data highlight the duel efficacy of intermittent PTH administration on both the skeletal and vascular systems.

Intermittent PTH administration may alter bone vascular density and spatially redistribute bone marrow blood vessels by stimulating the secretion of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9 [34]. MMP-9 has pro-angiogenic properties [35, 36] and cellular homing and migration capabilities [37, 38]. Evidence suggested that 5 days of intermittent PTH administration promoted MMP-9 secretion by osteoblasts and osteocytes in the tibial metaphysis of male SpragueDawley rats [34]. Moreover, MMP-9 not only regulates endothelial progenitor cell number and activity, which is essential for angiogenesis [35], but also stimulates migration of endothelial cells [39] and vascular smooth muscle cells [40]. I speculate that PTH-induced secretion of MMP-9 will serve to relocate bone marrow blood vessels toward trabecular bone surfaces. Thus, understanding the potential role(s) of MMP-9 in angiogenesis and bone marrow blood vessel spatial location is warranted.

Finally, although there are many beneficial aspects of intermittent PTH administration on bone and bone blood vessels, given its anabolic nature on bone, this treatment may inadvertently serve to augment the ossification of bone marrow blood vessels. This outcome would have dramatic impacts on the delivery of blood and nutrients to the skeleton, particularly in the elderly population. Taken together, since the vascular system has regulatory oversight on bone homeostasis and accrual, elucidating the vascular alterations that occur with intermittent PTH administration, a treatment for osteoporosis, will shed light on the link between blood vessels and bone.

1.1 Reference

- Sparks, D.S., et al., Vascularised bone transfer: History, blood supply and contemporary problems. Journal of Plastic, Reconstructive & Aesthetic Surgery, 2017. 70(1): p. 1-11.
- Brookes, M., Revell, William J., Blood Supply of Bone: Scientific Aspects. 1 ed. 1998: Springer-Verlag London. 359.
- McCarthy, I., The Physiology of Bone Blood Flow: A Review. JBJS, 2006.
 88: p. 4-9.
- Kiel, M.J., et al., SLAM Family Receptors Distinguish Hematopoietic Stem and Progenitor Cells and Reveal Endothelial Niches for Stem Cells. Cell, 2005. 121(7): p. 1109-1121.
- Sacchetti, B., et al., Self-Renewing Osteoprogenitors in Bone Marrow Sinusoids Can Organize a Hematopoietic Microenvironment. Cell, 2007. 131(2): p. 324-336.
- Parfitt, A.M., The mechanism of coupling: a role for the vasculature. Bone, 2000. 26(4): p. 319-323.
- Hauge, E.M., et al., Cancellous Bone Remodeling Occurs in Specialized Compartments Lined by Cells Expressing Osteoblastic Markers. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2001. 16(9): p. 1575-1582.
- Parfitt, A.M., Osteonal and hemi-osteonal remodeling: The spatial and temporal framework for signal traffic in adult human bone. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 1994. 55(3): p. 273-286.
- 9. Parfitt, A.M., Osteoclast precursors as leukocytes: importance of the area code. Bone, 1998. 23(6): p. 491-494.

- Parfitt, A.M., The Bone Remodeling Compartment: A Circulatory Function for Bone Lining Cells. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2001. 16(9): p. 1583-1585.
- Prisby, R.D., Mechanical, hormonal and metabolic influences on blood vessels, blood flow and bone. Journal of Endocrinology, 2017. 235(3): p. R77-R100.
- Khosla, S., M.J. Oursler, and D.G. Monroe, Estrogen and the skeleton. Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2012. 23(11): p. 576-581.
- Marieb, E.N. and K. Hoehn, Human anatomy & physiology. 9th ed. 2013, Boston: Pearson. xxxiv, 1107 p.
- Hayes, W.C., L.W. Swenson, and D.J. Schurman, Axisymmetric finite element analysis of the lateral tibial plateau. Journal of Biomechanics, 1978. 11(1): p. 21-33.
- Clarke, B., Normal bone anatomy and physiology. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2008. 3 Suppl 3: p. S131-9.
- Bloomfield, S.A., H.A. Hogan, and M.D. Delp, Decreases in bone blood flow and bone material properties in aging Fischer-344 rats. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 2002(396): p. 248-57.
- Dominguez, J.M., et al., Increased nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation of bone resistance arteries is associated with increased trabecular bone volume after endurance training in rats. Bone, 2010. 46(3): p. 813-819.
- Hruza Z, W.M., Diminution of bone blood flow and capillary network in rats during aging. Journal of Gerontology, 1969. 24(3): p. 315-320.

- Prisby, R.D., et al., Aging Reduces Skeletal Blood Flow, Endothelium-Dependent Vasodilation, and NO Bioavailability in Rats. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2007. 22(8): p. 1280-1288.
- Burkhardt, R., et al., Changes in trabecular bone, hematopoiesis and bone marrow vessels in aplastic anemia, primary osteoporosis, and old age: A comparative histomorphometric study. Bone, 1987. 8(3): p. 157-164.
- Kiyoshi, K., K. Kazuo, and H. Kazushi, Changes in bone marrow blood flow with aging. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 1987. 5(4): p. 569-575.
- Prisby, R.D., Bone Marrow Blood Vessel Ossification and "Microvascular Dead Space" in Rat and Human Long Bone. Bone, 2014. 64: p. 195-203.
- Henriksen, K., et al., Local communication on and within bone controls bone remodeling. Bone, 2009. 44(6): p. 1026-1033.
- Esbrit, P. and M.J. Alcaraz, Current perspectives on parathyroid hormone (PTH) and PTH-related protein (PTHrP) as bone anabolic therapies. Biochemical Pharmacology, 2013. 85(10): p. 1417-1423.
- Augustine, M. and M.J. Horwitz, Parathyroid Hormone and Parathyroid Hormone-related Protein Analogs as Therapies for Osteoporosis. Current osteoporosis reports, 2013. 11(4): p. 10.1007/s11914-013-0171-2.
- Guers, J.J., et al., Intermittent parathyroid hormone administration attenuates endothelial dysfunction in old rats. Journal of Applied Physiology, 2017. 122(1): p. 76-81.
- Prisby, R., T. Menezes, and J. Campbell, Vasodilation to PTH (1-84) in bone arteries is dependent upon the vascular endothelium and is mediated partially via VEGF signaling. Bone, 2013. 54(1): p. 68-75.

- Roche, B., et al., Parathyroid Hormone 1-84 Targets Bone Vascular Structure and Perfusion in Mice: Impacts of Its Administration Regimen and of Ovariectomy. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2014. 29(7): p. 1608-1618.
- Moore, A.E.B., et al., Changes observed in radionuclide bone scans during and after teriparatide treatment for osteoporosis. European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging, 2012. 39(2): p. 326-336.
- Greenspan, S.L., et al., Effect of recombinant human parathyroid hormone (1-84) on vertebral fracture and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: A randomized trial. Annals of Internal Medicine, 2007. 146(5): p. 326-339.
- Prisby, R., et al., Intermittent PTH(1–84) is osteoanabolic but not osteoangiogenic and relocates bone marrow blood vessels closer to boneforming sites. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2011. 26(11): p. 2583-2596.
- Reeve, J., et al., Anabolic effect of human parathyroid hormone fragment on trabecular bone in involutional osteoporosis: a multicentre trial. British Medical Journal, 1980. 280(6228): p. 1340-1344.
- Kristensen, H.B., et al., Increased presence of capillaries next to remodeling sites in adult human cancellous bone. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2013. 28(3): p. 574-585.
- 34. McClelland, P., et al., Intermittent administration of parathyroid hormone (134) stimulates matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) expression in rat long bone. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 1998. 70(3): p. 391-401.

- Huang, P.-H., et al., Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 Is Essential for Ischemia-Induced Neovascularization by Modulating Bone Marrow–Derived Endothelial Progenitor Cells. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 2009. 29(8): p. 1179-1184.
- Vu, T.H., et al., MMP-9/Gelatinase B Is a Key Regulator of Growth Plate Angiogenesis and Apoptosis of Hypertrophic Chondrocytes. Cell, 1998. 93(3): p. 411-422.
- Rao, Q., et al., Production of matrix metalloproteinase-9 by cord blood CD34+ cells and its role in migration. Annals of Hematology, 2004. 83(7): p. 409-413.
- 38. Yu, X., et al., Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) recruits osteoclast precursors by inducing chemotaxis, matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) activity, and collagen transmigration. J Bone Miner Res, 2003. 18(8): p. 1404-18.
- Engsig, M.T., et al., Matrix Metalloproteinase 9 and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Are Essential for Osteoclast Recruitment into Developing Long Bones. The Journal of Cell Biology, 2000. 151(4): p. 879-890.
- Scott, J.A., et al., The multifunctional Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent kinase II regulates vascular smooth muscle migration through matrix metalloproteinase 9. American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 2012. 302(10): p. H1953-H1964.

Chapter 2

Review of Literature

2.1 Bone Structure

The skeletal system comprises of appendicular and axial bones. Appendicular bones include the long bones (e.g., femur and tibia) and the short, flat, and irregular bones constitute the axial skeleton [1, 2]. Long bones such as the femur and tibia are subjected to mechanical loading [3-5]. Long bones consist of cortical bone at the outermost layer and in the diaphyseal region [6, 7], and trabecular bone lies at the interior of each end of the long bone (i.e., the metaphyseal and epiphyseal regions) [6, 7]. The shaft of the long bone (i.e., the diaphysis) consists of a medullary cavity containing bone marrow surrounded by the cortical shell [7]. Bone marrow is also present in the intertrabecular spaces of the metaphyses and epiphyses [8], and consists of mesenchymal and hematopoietic stem cells and blood vessels.

Trabecular bone is a porous tissue interconnected by rods and plates [2]. Trabecular bone provides strength and structural support for the metaphysis and absorbs stress from loads placed on the articular cartilage [9]. These stresses are passed onto cortical bone in the diaphyseal region [9]. Trabecular bone surfaces that abut against the bone marrow are called the endosteum. The endosteal surface is protected from the bone marrow environment by delicate bone lining cells [6, 10-

12]. Trabecular bone is described by bone microarchitectural properties, which include bone volume-to-total volume ratio, trabecular number, trabecular thickness, and trabecular separation [13].

Cortical bone is dense tissue arranged in structural units called osteons, where blood vessels and nerves traverse a central canal called the Haversian canal [14]. Cortical bone remodeling results from the activities of BMUs within an osteon [14] and, therefore, the structural integrity of cortical bone depends upon activities within the osteon [14]. The outer part of cortical and trabecular bone is covered by a double-layered membrane called the periosteum, which is important for bone growth and fracture healing [2]. Similar to trabecular bone, the surface of cortical bone facing the bone marrow is called the endosteum, which is a site of greater bone remodeling vs. the periosteal layer [3]. Cortical bone is often described by geometrical parameters including cortical bone volume fraction and cortical thickness [15]. Trabecular bone microarchitecture and cortical bone parameters can be analyzed by bone histomorphometry and three-dimensional microcomputed tomography (µCT).

2.2 Bone Histomorphometry and Microcomputed Tomography (µCT)

2.2.1 Bone Histomorphometry

Bone histomorphometry is a histological technique used to obtain twodimensional (2D) quantitative analyses of bone microarchitecture and bone cellular activity from undecalcified bone embedded in plastic (e.g., methyl methacrylate) [16] and from decalcified bone embedded in paraffin wax [17]. Bone histomorphometry is a well-established technique for clinical and research purposes and considered the "gold standard" for assessing structural changes in bone as a result of cellular activity [16, 18]. The nomenclature, mathematical derivations, and units for bone histomorphometric parameters have been standardized by the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research (ASBMR) [19]. It should be noted that there are many bone static and dynamic properties outlined by the ASMBR [19]; however, the investigations in this dissertation analyzed and reported those discussed in the succeeding paragraphs.

The structural parameters examined with bone histomorphometry include the bone microarchitecture for trabecular and cortical bone. Trabecular bone microarchitecture consists of the bone volume-to-total volume ratio (BV/TV, %), which is a percentage of the area occupied by trabecular bone per total tissue volume. Trabecular number (Tb.N, /mm²) is the mean number of trabecular plates and/or rods per unit area of tissue. Trabecular thickness (Tb.Th, μ m) is the mean thickness of individual trabeculae and trabecular separation (Tb.Sp, μ m) is the mean distance between individual trabeculae [16, 19].

In addition to assessing bone microarchitecture, bone histomorphometry measures the static properties of bone. Although bone is an extremely dynamic tissue, measurements of bone microarchitecture and cellular activity are often represented as static parameters; i.e., the measurement at the time of tissue collection. Bone static parameters related to bone formation elucidate the amount of newly formed but not yet mineralized bone (i.e., osteoid) and osteoblast activity. The osteoid surface to bone surface ratio (OS/BS, %) describes the percentage of bone surface covered with unmineralized bone (i.e., osteoid) in comparison to total bone volume. Osteoblast surface to bone surface ratio (Ob.S/BS, %) expresses the fraction of the bone surface covered by osteoblasts, and represents the recruitment of osteoblasts to sites of bone remodeling. The bone static parameters related to osteoclast activity indicate bone resorption. Osteoclast surface to bone surface ratio (Oc.S/BS, %) determines the percentage of the bone surface occupied by osteoclasts actively resorbing bone [16, 19].

Besides bone static properties, bone dynamic properties can be analyzed by bone histomorphometry. Bone dynamic properties assess the changes in bone remodeling across time. These measurements are obtained by fluorescently labeling bone with substances such as tetracycline [19] and/or calcein [20]. Fluorescent labeling of bone allows for the calculation of bone turnover kinetics. For example, administration of two separate doses of tetracycline/calcein separated by several days (e.g., 5 days) will adhere to sites of newly forming and calcified bone, labeling the newly formed bone with one or two fluorescent layers. If bone formation is actively occurring during administration of both doses of tetracycline/calcein, a double fluorescent layer is visible on the bone surface [16] and is expressed as a double-labeled surface per bone surface ratio (dLS/BS, %). A single fluorescent layer is visible on the bone surface when bone formation is actively occurring at either the 1st or 2nd injection of tetracycline/calcein [16], and is expressed as a single-labeled surface per bone surface ratio (sLS/BS, %). Thus, bone dynamic properties can only be analyzed with fluorescence and are used an indicators of bone formation.

The bone dynamic properties are the mineralizing surfaces to bone surface ratio, mineral apposition rate, and bone formation rate. Mineralizing surfaces to bone surface ratio (MS/BS, %) assesses the percent of newly mineralized bone per total bone surface and is derived from the following equation: MS/BS (%) = dLS/BS + $\frac{1}{2}$ sLS/BS. Mineral apposition rate (MAR) evaluates the rate of new bone deposition and mineralization across time. It is calculated as the mean distance (µm) between double labels divided by the time between the two tetracycline/calcein injections. Bone formation rate to bone surface ratio (BFR/BS, μ m³/µm²/day) represents how much of the bone surface has mineralized during a given time period (e.g., during the 5 days between the two injections), and is the product of MAR and MS/BS [16, 19].

Taken all together, bone histomorphometry is a useful tool for histological evaluation of bone microarchitecture and bone static (i.e., osteoblast and osteoclast activity) and dynamic (i.e, bone formation) properties. Further, it is the "gold standard" for measuring bone static and dynamic properties.

2.2.2 *Microcomputed Tomography*

Microcomputed tomography (μ CT) is a well-developed, efficient and useful tool for examining bone microarchitecture in small animal models [18], from human bone biopsies [21] and for *in vivo* measurements taken at the extremities in clinical populations [22]. Trabecular and cortical bone can be analyzed with μ CT and three-dimensional (3D) volumetric analyses of each bone compartment (i.e., trabecular bone, cortical bone and the marrow cavity) can be visualized separately [18].

Trabecular bone microarchitecture consists of the same parameters as bone histomorphometry; i.e., BV/TV, Tb.N, Tb.Th, and Tb.Sp. The two-dimensional (2D) analyses obtained by bone histomorphometry may have some limitations. For example, the 2D nature of histological methods cannot provide information regarding the entire bone sample, as it measures only the bone present within each bone section on the histological slide. [23, 24]. The three-dimensional (3D) volumetric features of μ CT allow for measuring the detailed bone microarchitecture within the entire bone sample [24]. Thus, the more accurate quantification generated by μ CT in regards to bone microarchitecture overcomes the limitations of 2D analysis [25, 26].

Cortical bone geometrical parameters are typically assessed by 3D volumetric features of μ CT at the mid-shaft of the long bones. Cortical volume fraction (Ct.BV/TV, %) is a percentage of cortical bone volume per total tissue volume and

cortical thickness (Ct.Th, μ m) is the mean thickness of the cortical bone in a crosssectional measurement [19].

2.2.3 Comparison of the Two Methods

Both bone histomorphometry and μCT are tools to assess bone microarchitecture and several shared parameters have been validated between the two methods. Previous studies have evaluated the accuracy and reproducibility of µCT in animal models [27-29] and in human bone samples [23, 30, 31] by comparing the data from μCT with data derived from bone histomorphometry. Results demonstrate that bone microarchitecture measured by μ CT was highly correlated with bone microarchitecture analyzed by histomorphometry. For example, when 24 calcaneus bones from human cadavers were analyzed by both μ CT and bone histomorphometry, significant correlations were observed for the following parameters: BV/TV (r = 0.69, p < 0.01), Tb.Sp (r = 0.90, p < 0.01), and Tb.N (r = 0.86, p < 0.01) [31]. Further, analyses of human transiliac bone biopsy revealed strong correlations between BV/TV analyzed by bone histomorphometry and 3D μ CT (r = 0.93, p < 0.05) [23], while a slightly lower linear correlation coefficient was observed in Tb.Th between the two methods (r = 0.85, p < 0.05) [23]. The slight discrepancy observed between the Tb.Th parameters resulted from the 3D aspects of μ CT, which detects the connectivity between individual trabeculae not detectable with histomorphometry [23].

To summarize, the strong correlations between bone histomorphometry and μ CT highlight that both methods are effective tools for evaluating bone microarchitectural properties. The use of both methods are common among researchers since μ CT provides finer and more accurate depictions of bone microarchitecture and bone histomorphometry is suitable for analyzing cellular activities in relation to formation and resorption.

2.3 The Bone Basic Multicellular Unit (BMU) and Bone Remodeling

Compartment (BRC)

Bone remodeling is a lifelong event. In the mature (i.e., fully developed) skeleton, remodeling results from bone resorption by osteoclasts subsequent to bone formation by osteoblasts [32]. Bone remodeling replaces old or damaged bone in efforts to maintain strength and mineral homeostasis throughout the lifespan of the organism [2]. Bone resorption and formation can take place independent from one another, but during bone remodeling, the actions of osteoclasts and osteoblasts are tightly coupled [11, 32], such that resorption always precedes formation. Bone remodeling processes occur at localized sites called bone multicellular units (BMU). BMUs comprise of osteoclasts, osteoblasts, and capillaries [11, 33]. The BMU was originally described for cortical bone remodeling [34] within the osteon; i.e., the basic structural unit of cortical bone [14]. Due to the cylindrical shape of osteoons, the BMU forms a tunnel [11, 33]. Osteoclasts form a cutting edge (i.e., a

cone shape) at the tip of the tunnel and dig into cortical bone during resorption. Osteoblasts trail behind the osteoclasts and seal the tunnel with osteoid during bone formation [11, 33]. Present within every BMU is the vascular network, which traverses the middle of the osteon and supports the cellular activities associated with bone remodeling [11, 33].

Trabecular bone remodeling occurs by similar processes as cortical bone remodeling; however, the BMU forms a hemi-tunnel with the bone cells (i.e., osteoclasts and osteoblasts) moving along the trabecular surface at the remodeling site [11]. More recently, the term "bone remodeling compartment" or BRC was assigned to remodeling at trabecular bone surfaces to distinguish this activity from the activities of the BMU in cortical bone [10]. Similar to BMUs, BRCs comprise of osteoclasts, osteoblasts, and blood vessels [10, 12]. Unlike BMUs, one half of the BRC is unoccupied by bone cells (i.e., osteoclasts and osteoblasts) and is separated from the bone marrow compartment by bone-lining cells [10]. The bonelining cells are believed to be an integral component of the BRC since they provide a protected remodeling site absent the influence of the marrow environment [10-12]. Blood vessels are also an essential component of the BRC since they transports nutrients, oxygen, and the precursor cells for bone remodeling to these localized sites [10, 35]. For example, trabecular bone remodeling was linearly associated with augmented blood flow in venules (25-50 μ m in diameter) located at the site of trabecular bone resorption [36]. Thus, the bone vascular network, especially
capillaries as the substance exchangers, are crucial constituents for bone metabolism (remodeling) and homeostasis.

2.4 The Bone Vascular Network

As evidenced in BMUs and BRCs, several studies demonstrated the importance of blood vessels for bone remodeling [10-12, 32, 33, 35] and demonstrated a positive relationship between bone remodeling and vascular function [36-40]. The section of this review highlights the role of the bone vascular network (i.e., morphology and function) in bone metabolism and homeostasis.

2.4.1 Bone Vascular Morphology

The skeleton is a highly vascularized tissue [8]. As an extension of the systemic circulation, the bone vascular network has afferent, exchange (e.g., capillaries and sinusoids), and efferent vessels [8, 41]. In long bones, the principal nutrient artery (PNA) supplies blood flow to the marrow space of the shaft and the inner 2/3rd of the diaphyseal cortex [8, 41]. The rest of blood flow to long bones is delivered through the metaphyseal, epiphyseal, and periosteal arteries, which supply blood to the region of the long bone where their names were derived. Blood exits the long bones through the efferent veins (i.e., the epiphyseal, metaphyseal, periosteal, and principal nutrient) [8].

The PNA penetrates the diaphyseal cortical shaft, travels to the middle of the marrow space, branches into an ascending and descending limb and navigates parallel to the longitudinal axis of the shaft [8, 42, 43]. Branches of the PNA spread throughout the marrow space and towards the endosteal surfaces, eventually penetrating into the epiphyseal, metaphyseal and cortical compartments [8]. Angiograms of barium sulfate perfused femora revealed that the vascular system in bone is connected throughout the cortex (i.e., cortical bone), periosteum, and medullary cavity [44]. The smaller blood vessels (e.g., capillaries and sinusoid) branch out from afferent arterioles, serving as ionic exchange vessels for bone and bone marrow cells [8, 41, 43]. Capillaries not only support the nutritional and oxygen needs of the tissue, but allow for the exudation of pre-osteoblasts and pre-

osteoclasts at sites of bone remodeling [10-12]. Sinusoids are highly permeable capillaries with open pores, a discontinuous endothelial cell layer, and an incomplete basement membrane [43]. The sinusoids perform similar activities as capillaries, but also play a pivotal role in the maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells [45-47].

The efferent vessels drain the blood through the venous system (i.e., from venules to the nutrient veins) and link with the systemic circulation outside of bone [8, 41, 43]. Figure 2.1 shows a representative image of the vascular



Figure 2.1. Visualization of bone vascular network by an epoxy resin perfusion.

network within a rat femur. A red epoxy resin was perfused into the vascular system post-mortem, and the bone tissue was subsequently cleared for visualization of the blood vessels.

2.4.2 Bone Vascular Function

Besides the morphological properties of the bone vascular network, vascular function regulates blood flow and perfusion to bone, and controls the rate and volume of substance exchange. The regulation of bone blood flow occurs via the vasomotor activity (i.e., vasodilation and vasoconstriction) of bone arteries and arterioles, and via vascular density (i.e., the number of blood vessels) within bone and bone marrow. Early researchers developed techniques to assess bone blood flow [48-51]. For example, the ¹⁸F radiotracers infusion technique is one means to measure bone blood flow in humans [49]. Data from healthy human volunteers estimated that total skeletal blood flow was ~5% to ~7% of resting cardiac output [49]. In addition, the radio-labeled microspheres technique is the "gold standard" for measuring blood flow in animal models. In a canine model, total skeletal blood flow represented ~11% of cardiac output [52]. These data demonstrate that the skeleton receives a considerable percentage of cardiac output and receives volumes of blood comparable to some skeletal muscles at rest [42, 53].

The volume of blood flow received by the skeleton is site dependent. For example, trabecular bone within the sternum, ribs, ilium, and femoral epiphysis had

greater blood flow rates (i.e., 16-88 ml·min⁻¹·100 g⁻¹) compared to cortical bone in the femoral and humeral diaphyses (i.e., 0.2-6.0 ml·min⁻¹·100 g⁻¹) [52]. Moreover, delivery of blood flow is higher to red (i.e., hematopoietic) vs. yellow (i.e., fatty) bone marrow, as demonstrated in a canine model [52]. Similarly, discrepancies in blood flow to various regions of bone were observed in rabbit [51] and rat [54-56] models. For example, femoral bone blood flow in male Fischer-344 rats was highest in the diaphyseal marrow and lowest in the diaphyseal cortex (i.e., cortical bone) [55].

The deviating supply of blood to bone results from the individual characteristics of the bone compartments (i.e., trabecular bone, cortical bone and bone marrow). Diverse oxygen concentrations (pO_2) resulting from metabolic activity and cellularity have been documented. For example, despite the high vascularity of bone marrow, the pO_2 (11.7 mmHg) in this compartment was significantly lower in comparison to the pO_2 (31.7 mmHg) in cortical bone [57], no doubt reflective of the high metabolic activity of bone marrow cells. These data coincide with reports of higher blood flow to areas of bone with high hematopoietic activity (e.g., trabecular bone and bone marrow) vs. areas of low or no hematopoietic activity (e.g., cortical bone) [52, 55]. This concept is further supported by data revealing that hematopoietic marrow is perfused to a greater extent than non-hematopoietic, fatty marrow [52, 55, 58]. Taken together, divergent rates of blood to the different bone compartments are reflective of metabolic rate.

In summary, bone vascular morphology and function are essential to bone and responsible for adequate blood supply in response to metabolism. Capillaries and sinusoids allow for nutrient exchange between blood vessels and bone compartments [8, 41, 43]. Therefore, the alterations in bone vascular morphology and function with aging and disease presumably influences overall skeletal health.

2.5 Bone

During growth and development of an organism, bone formation occurs more frequently than bone resorption. Following skeletal maturity, bone formation and bone resorption are balanced so that bone maintains its mass and density. With advancing age, bone resorption exceeds bone formation, resulting in lower bone mass and density. As observed in rodent models, rapid bone growth occurs during the first six months after birth [59] with the closure of the growth plate in the phalanx, radius, metacarpal, fibula, and tibia occurring at four months of age [60]. Longitudinal growth of long bones occurs at the growth plate [61] and closure of the plate terminates elongation and indicates skeletal maturity [62]. Therefore, rodents >4-6 months old are considered skeletally matured animals. In this section of the review will discuss age-related bone loss following skeletal maturity.

2.5.1 Age-Related Morphological Changes in Bone

Trabecular and cortical bone volume diminishes as a function of advancing age, such that trabecular connectivity is reduced and cortical porosity is increased [63]. The age-related structural changes can be explained by a weakened bone microarchitecture (e.g., reduced Tb.Th and Tb.N and increased Tb.Sp) [64-66]. Weinstein and Hutson (1987) demonstrated that 80 year-old subjects presented with lower (~68%) trabecular bone area in the ilium, resulting from an ~23% (p < 0.001) decline in Tb.Th and an ~48% greater Tb.Sp in comparison to 20 year-old subjects (r = 0.599, p < 0.001). Further, age-related declines in bone microarchitecture were documented in animal models. For example, trabecular BV/TV in the proximal tibia of 20-month-old male and female BALB/c mice was 63% and 54% lower, respectively, than values observed in the 4-month-old counterparts [66]. These declines in BV/TV resulted from a reduction in Tb.N ($r^2 = 0.55$, p < 0.001) [66]. Similarly, declines in BV/TV were observed in 22-24 month-old vs. 4-6 month-old male Fischer-344 rats, resulting in higher Tb.Sp [67] and reduced Tb.N [54]. Declines in bone microarchitecture (e.g., BV/TV, Tb.Th, Tb.N and Tb.Sp) result from excessive osteoclastic bone resorption in relation to diminished osteoblastic bone formation [63]. These imbalances in remodeling lead to microarchitectural and structural changes in both trabecular and cortical bone, eventually diminishing bone mass.

Advancing age correlates with imbalances in osteoblast and osteoclast activity, leading to bone loss [64, 68]. For example, serum biomarkers representative of osteoblast (i.e., osteocalcin and N-terminal propeptide of type 1 procollagen [P1NP]) and osteoclast (i.e., Tartrate-Resistant Acid Phosphatase 5b) activity were lower in 12-month-old vs. 6-month-old mice and 23-months-old vs. 5 month-old rats [64, 68]. The reductions in osteoblast and osteoclast activity corresponded with diminished trabecular BV/TV and a reduction in the circumference of L5 vertebrae in the older mice [64], and reduced BV/TV (75%), Tb.N (50%) and increased Tb.Sp (74%) in the proximal tibia of the older rats [68]. Taken together, aging-mediated morphological alterations occur throughout the skeleton, as evidence by alterations in bone microarchitecture and bone cellular activities.

Although less impacted, age-related changes in cortical bone have been documented in the form of diminished bone mineral density (BMD) [69, 70], reduced cortical thickness, increased cortical porosity, and enhanced endocortical diameter [69]. For example, cortical BMD in vertebrae was reduced by 23-30% in women 70 years of age vs. women 30-40 years of age [70]. In the same investigation, the reduction in cortical BMD was lower (11%) but still present in 70-year-old vs. 30-40-year-old men [70]. Cortical bone becomes thinner in advanced age, resulting from the expansion of the bone marrow cavity and from higher erosion rates at the endosteal surface [63, 71]. For example, cortical bone

area was augmented by 34% but cortical bone thickness was diminished by 38% in 24-month-old vs. 3-month-old C57BL/6 mice [71].

Thus, loss of trabecular and cortical bone with advancing age has been demonstrated in the clinical population as well as in rodent models. The deterioration of bone mass via imbalances in osteoclast and osteoblast activity with advancing age predisposes individuals to bone frailty and increased risk of fracture.

2.5.2 Age-Related Functional Changes in Bone

The skeletal system plays a pivotal role in mechanical function, allowing for movement and load-bearing of the body [72]. These functions are impaired with aging, lead to bone fracture and loss of posture [73-75]. For example, age-dependent declines in mechanical function are associated with the loss of bone microarchitecture. Individuals >80 years of age demonstrated 4-10 times higher risk of fracture in comparison to individuals 50 and 60 years of age, despite having similar BMDs [76, 77]. In addition, as a result of diminished bone remodeling [64, 68], bone healing following fracture is delayed in advance age [78], further exacerbating fragility and poor locomotion [79]. A large population-based cohort study from 1991 to 2013 demonstrated that ~151 per 10,000 individuals are hospitalized due to fracture, with higher risks of fracture occurring in the elderly population (> 60 years old) vs. teenagers (12-19 years old) and young adults (20-42 years old) [75]. Similarly, an epidemiological study demonstrated that the annual

incidence of hip fracture in women and men 35 years of age was 3 and 2 per 100,000 individuals, respectively; however this number was exponentially elevated to 2542 and 1893 per 100,000 individuals for 85-year-old women and men, respectively [74].

These age-associated changes have been documented in animal models as well. For example, reduced bone healing in the tibial diaphysis, as evidenced by lower BMD and bone mineral content up to 20 and 25 days and lower bone volume up to 20 days were observed following fracture in 25-month-old vs. 5-month-old mice, resulting in diminished bone strength, poor locomotion and balance [78]. In fact, 45% of the population whom have suffered a fracture have poor balance vs. those without a history of fracture [73]. The inability to maintain position, balance, and movement in old age is reflective of bone function and may further augment morbidity and mortality related to bone disease in the aged population.

In totality, aged-related declines in bone microarchitecture and balance predisposes individuals to higher rates of fracture. Following fracture, the ability to heal is impaired in advanced age, exacerbating bone loss and strength and further augmenting the risk of fracture. This downward spiral may eventually lead to additional morbidity and ultimately mortality.

2.6 Age-Related Alterations in Bone Blood Vessels

Age-related changes in the structural and functional properties of the vascular system include intimal and medial thickening, increased arterial stiffness, and reduced distensibility of arteries [80]. Further, vascular rarefaction (i.e., a reduction in the number of blood vessels) occurs with advancing age, coinciding with impaired microvascular branching and a disorganized geometry within arteriolar and capillary beds [81]. Age-related alterations in vascular function are observed as well, leading to impaired blood flow and perfusion of various tissues. This section describes age-related alterations in bone vascular function and vascular density and describes a newly discovered bone vascular pathology that may have dramatic impacts on bone with old age.

2.6.1 Reduced Vascular Function

Increased vasoconstriction and impaired vasodilation are closely associated with reduced tissue blood flow in old age, leading to a variety of negative health outcomes [82-84]. For example, estimated leg oxygen consumption was diminished by 15%, femoral arterial blood flow by 26%, and vascular conductance by 32% in 63 vs. 28 year-old individuals. In regards to bone, age-related declines in nitric oxide (NO)-mediated, endothelium dependent vasodilation of the femoral PNA [40, 54, 55, 67, 85] corresponded with diminished bone blood flow [54, 55, 86-88], bone microarchitecture (e.g., BV/TV) [54, 55] and BMD [86]. Age-related

decrements in bone blood flow correlated with a 27% reduction in endotheliumdependent vasodilation in the femoral PNA in 24-26 month-old rats when compared to the 4-6 months-old animals [55].

Age-associated decrements in bone blood flow are consistent throughout the skeleton to include the flat (e.g., scapula) and long (e.g., femur) bones; i.e., reduced tibial (-91% and -88%, respectively) and parietal (-87% and -77%, respectively) blood flows were demonstrated in old male and female rats [87]. Agerelated decrements in blood flow to the flat and long bones also corresponded with higher vascular resistances, loss of bone material properties, and reduced bone strength [86]. Induction of osteoporosis also leads to diminished bone blood flow; whereby 8 weeks of ovariectomy, which also induced osteoporosis in the 6 monthold female rats, diminished vertebral perfusion vs. sham-operated animals. [89].

Data from animal studies are consistent with those from human subject research. For example, magnetic resonance imaging revealed diminished femoral bone marrow perfusion in elderly (75 year-old) patients with osteoporosis vs. agematched subjects with normal BMD [90]. Furthermore, in comparison to younger populations, elderly osteoporotic women had diminished perfusion in the bone marrow of the proximal femur, and these elderly women experienced declines in BMD across the 4 year study [91]. Moreover, perfusion to the L3-L4 vertebrae, as measured by computed tomography, demonstrated peak perfusion at 25 years of age, followed by a plateau at 35 years of age, and then a continual decline with advancing aging, resulting in the lowest perfusion (-41% from the peak value) at 76 years of age or older [92].

Taken together, the changes in bone perfusion with aging in animal models and human subjects are explained by bone vascular dysfunction to include impaired vasomotor activity and blood flow regulation. Age-related declines in angiogenesis are discussed in the following section.

2.6.2 Reduced Vascular Density

Skeletal blood flow is regulated by the vasomotor activities of arteries and arterioles; however, declines in bone blood flow may also result from vascular rarefaction (i.e., loss of blood vessels) or an inability to create new blood vessels via angiogenesis. Vascular rarefaction has been documented in old age [87, 93-97]. For example, an influential study in the 1980s demonstrated reduced vascular density in humans [93]. Utilizing bone histomorphometry on iliac crest biopsies, individuals 30-50 years-old had a lower number of bone marrow arterial capillaries (-49%) and sinusoids (-12%) in comparison to individuals 10-20 years-old [93]. Sinusoidal density further declined by 26% in individuals >70 vs. 30-50 years of age [93]. Interestingly, trabecular bone volume declined along this aging transition and as the number of bone marrow blood vessels were reduced, the volume of marrow occupied by adipocytes was enhanced [93]. Thus, age-related declines in

bone vascular density corresponds with reduced bone volume and augmented fat content in the marrow.

The processes of angiogenesis create new blood vessels [94] and NO supports angiogenesis by stimulating various growth factors [98]. Nitric oxide is produced by endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) from endothelial cells [98] and the production of NO is suppressed in old blood vessels. For example, NO and eNOS in gastrocnemius muscles were lower in senescence, accompanying a 75% reduction in vascular density vs. young controls [97]. These lower levels of NO in advanced age led to an attenuated (37%) recovery in hindlimb blood flow following femoral artery ligation, while vascular density remained suppressed [97]. In bone, a 25% reduction in endothelium-dependent vasodilation of the femoral PNA in old rats, which coincided with 21%, 28% and 45% lower blood flows to the proximal metaphysis, distal metaphysis and diaphyseal marrow, respectively, resulted from a 70% reduction in NO bioavailability [55]. Furthermore, a new endothelial cell type (Type H) discovered in the bone marrow and tibial metaphysis releases osteogenic factors that aid in bone formation [88, 99]. However, this novel endothelial cell type was diminished in old mice as a result of vascular rarefaction [88, 99], such that tibial bone marrow arteries were reduced by 81% in old (65-70 weeks-old) vs. young (4 weeks-old) mice [99]. Collectively, bone vascular density and angiogenesis are reduced in old age, possibly resulting from impaired NO production.

Taken together, age-related declines in bone vascular density contribute to diminished bone blood flow. Therefore, treatment to alleviate these decrements may aid in maintaining bone blood flow in old age.

2.6.3 Bone Marrow Blood Vessels Ossification

We have been discussing the importance of the bone vascular network for bone. Thus, dysfunction of blood vessels in bone contribute to developing bonerelated pathology. To date, little is understood concerning the age-associated structural changes of bone blood vessels. For example, vascular calcification is a well-known pathology associated with aging [100, 101] and certain disease states such as chronic kidney disease (CKD) [102-105], diabetes [101, 106], and atherosclerosis [101, 107]. The underlying mechanisms of vascular calcification are complex and not yet entirely elucidated [103, 108]. Blood vessels have mineral deposition and calcium-phosphate hydroxyapatite in the intimal and medial layers, displaying mechanistic processes similar to osteogenesis [103, 107, 109, 110]. Even though the mechanisms of calcification are similar between blood vessels and bone, a study utilizing solid-state nuclear magnetic resonance (SSNMR) spectroscopy demonstrated discrepancies in the composition of vascular calcification between arterial beds and discrepancies in composition from bone [111]. For example, intimal calcification in human carotid arteries consisted of cholesterol-like complexes, fatty acids, and hydroxyapatite-like carbonate, while medial

calcification of human femoral arteries consisted of fatty acids. Further, SSNMR spectroscopy also revealed a differing composition between intimal calcification of human blood vessels in comparison to tibial cortical bone samples from equines [111].

Vascular calcification has been demonstrated in the bone vascular system as well. Arteriosclerotic lesions were present in arteries in the human femur, with disease progression being advanced by 10 years vs. lesions observed in similar arteries outside of the skeleton [112]. In addition, fibro-fatty intimal plaque and replacement of smooth muscle fibers with collagen was induced in bone arteries of the maxilla and mandible following 20 weeks of an atherogenic diet in rhesus monkeys [113] and evidence of vascular calcification within the adventitial layer of bone blood vessels was reported [114].

To further support the concept of divergent calcification processes between blood vessels from different vascular beds, we recently demonstrated severe calcification and mineralization of the bone marrow vasculature [95], which appears more exacerbated than previous reports of calcification of bone blood vessels [112-114]. This is a novel vascular pathology coined "bone marrow blood vessel ossification" and presumes the conversion of bone marrow blood vessels into bone. To support this theory, Fourier-Transform Infra-Red Spectroscopy (FTIR) performed on bone marrow blood vessels and cortical bone samples from young (4-6 months) and old (22-24 months) male Fischer-344 rats revealed similar FTIR spectra between old bone marrow blood vessels and old cortical bone (unpublished observations, Prisby 2014). The similarities between old bone marrow blood vessels and old cortical bone occurred in areas of the spectrum that are representative of bone; i.e., the mineral-to-matrix ratio, the carbonate-to-phosphate area, and the crystallinity peak area (unpublished observations, Prisby 2014). This suggests that old bone marrow blood vessels are acquiring the chemical composition of bone. In addition, light microscopic examination of ossified bone

marrow blood vessels (Figure 2.2) revealed the presence of osteocyte lacunae (i.e., another characteristics of bone; black arrow) on the abluminal surface [95]. Histological analyses of ossified bone marrow blood vessels in young (4-6 months) and old (22-24 months) male



Figure 2.2. Normal and ossified bone marrow blood vessels.

Fischer-344 rats revealed the presence of bone (i.e., ossification) and extensive calcium deposition [95]. The pathology progressed with advancing age such that ossified and calcified vessel volumes increased by 366% and 266%, respectively; (p<0.05) in comparison to the young rats [95]. Coinciding with these alterations, the number of patent bone marrow blood vessels were reduced by 38% [95].

Ossified bone marrow blood vessels represent "microvascular dead space" in bone; i.e., the loss of normal vasomotor capacity (i.e., vasodilation and vasoconstriction) and patency, and an impaired ability to regulate bone blood flow [95]. This pathology was also present in amputated long bones from elderly individuals with arteriosclerotic vascular disease and peripheral vascular with cellulitis [95], indicating an unaddressed clinical pathology.

In total, calcification and mineralization of bone marrow blood vessels are exacerbated by the aging process. This pathology no doubt contributes to agerelated declines in vascular density and blood flow, potentially impacting every bone compartment (i.e., trabecular and cortical bone and bone marrow) in terms of metabolism and homeostasis.

2.7 Effects of Parathyroid Hormone on Bone

Parathyroid hormone (PTH) 1-84 is produced by parathyroid glands and released into the systemic circulation. The major role of PTH 1-84 is the regulation of blood calcium levels. When calcium levels are low in the bloodstream, PTH 1-84 is secreted and stimulates bone resorption to release calcium from bone. When blood calcium levels return to normal, the release of PTH 1-84 from the parathyroid glands is terminated. Thus, the physiological consequences of continuous or prolonged PTH 1-84 secretion is bone resorption [115, 116] as what occurs in pathological conditions such as hyperparathyroidism [117]. On the other hand, when administered as recombinant PTH 1-34 in an intermittent fashion (e.g., an injection per day), bone anabolism is the outcome [118-124]. This section will

review the effects of continuous and intermittent PTH administration on bone volume, BMD, and bone cellular activity.

2.7.1 Continuous PTH Administration

The effects of PTH on bone metabolism is dependent upon the duration and frequency of exposure, with prolonged secretion or continuous PTH administration eliciting reductions in bone volume and microarchitecture [115, 125, 126] by constantly stimulating bone resorption. In this scenario, osteoclast-mediated resorption overtakes osteoblast-mediated bone formation [126, 127] and the differentiation of osteoprogenitor cells into osteoblasts is inhibited [128]. For example, continuous PTH 1-34 administration diminished alkaline phosphatase (i.e., a protein secreted by osteoblasts during bone formation) and augmented the bone resorption biomarker, C-terminal telopeptide [126, 129].

Imbalances in bone cellular activity initiate reductions in bone volume, BMD, and bone strength. For example, 12 days of continuous administration of PTH 1-34 reduced trabecular BV/TV by 45% in the tibia, which corresponded with a 40% reduction in Tb.N when compared to animals treated with PTH in an intermittent fashion [115]. The unfavorable effects of continuous PTH secretion are not limited to bone volume. For example, older patients (69-81 years old) with hyperparathyroidism (i.e., chronically elevate serum PTH) demonstrated significantly lower BMDs at multiple locations of the hip (i.e., total hip, femoral neck, and trochanter) vs. the control group with normal levels of serum PTH [130]. In contrast, 2 weeks of continuous PTH 1-34 infusion did not alter BMD in the femur, tibia or L5 vertebra, but reduced trabecular connectivity by 40% in comparison to mice administered a vehicle [131]. Moreover, strength of the femoral neck declined following 8 hours of continuous PTH 1-34 infusion vs. strength in vehicle-treated rats [125]. Therefore, these data suggest that continuous PTH administration induces bone catabolism through the imbalance of bone cellular activity, which reduces bone volume, BMD, and bone strength.

2.7.2 Intermittent PTH Administration

Intermittent PTH administration is osteogenic, and a well-known anabolic agent used to treat conditions of low bone mass [118, 120]. Intermittent PTH administration has regulatory effects on bone cellular communications and bone remodeling [120] and augments bone volume by stimulating osteoblast-mediated bone formation, while having no effect on [124] or reducing [38] osteoclast-mediated bone resorption. Previous investigations have demonstrated the anabolic effects of intermittent PTH administration on bone in human subjects [119, 132] and in animal models [38, 39, 121-123]. For example, elderly, postmenopausal women are at an increased risk of developing bone diseases such as osteopenia and osteoporosis [133]. Often, intermittent PTH administration is prescribed to alleviate these declines in bone mass [134]. Eighteen months of intermittent PTH

administration augmented spine and hip BMD by ~7% and ~2%, respectively, in 2532 postmenopausal women vs. the placebo-treated group [119]. In addition, 24 months intermittent PTH 1-34 administration improved BMD and BV/TV at the iliac crest in an elderly population with osteoporosis vs. values in a similar population without PTH treatment [132].

Improved bone parameters following intermittent PTH administration in rodent models have been conducted utilizing various experimental models such as fracture healing [123], ovariectomy-induced bone loss [121, 122], and under normal physiological conditions [38, 39]. For example, 2 month-old rats treated intermittently with PTH 1-34 during fracture healing had augmented femoral BMD (32% and 54%, respectively), bone mineral content (46% and 74%, respectively) and strength (61% and 119%, respectively) following 28 and 42 days [123]. In addition, ovariectomy in mature (6-7 months-old) rats induced osteoporosis in the tibial metaphysis [121, 122]. Following 4 and 8 weeks of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration in these ovariectomized animals, trabecular BV/TV was restored by 66% and 69%, respectively, coinciding with improved bone formation rates vs. vehicle-treated, ovariectomized controls [121, 122].

The anabolic effects of PTH treatment have also been demonstrated in the young, healthy skeleton. Despite a shorter duration (i.e., 2 weeks) of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration in young (3-5 months) male Wistar rats, data demonstrated increases in trabecular BV/TV, Tb.Th, and Tb.N. and reduced Tb.Sp

[39]. Bone histomorphometric analysis of the femur revealed increased osteoblast activity (i.e., Ob.S/BS) and reduced osteoclast activity (i.e., Oc.S/BS) [38, 39]. A shorter time course (i.e., 7 days) of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration in middle-aged (16-month-old) Sprague-Dawley rats failed to alter BV/TV, which remained similar to vehicle-treated animals [135]. However, bone static properties related to bone formation including osteoid perimeter, osteoblast perimeter, and the number of osteoblasts were augmented by ~7-fold [135]. Therefore, when administered intermittently, PTH promotes bone anabolism by enhancing osteoblast activity and bone formation. Despite the documented changes in bone cellular activity, the underlying mechanisms are only partially understood [118, 126].

2.8 Effects of PTH Administration on the Bone Vascular Network

Intermittent PTH administration increases bone metabolism and with the rise in metabolism, enhanced bone blood flow is requisite. Thus, the influences of PTH on bone blood vessels have been recently investigated, since this may be another mechanism contributing to improved bone mass. These investigations assessed the vasodilator capacity of bone blood vessels, bone blood flow or perfusion, bone vascular density, and the spatial location of bone marrow blood vessels following either a bolus dose or intermittent administration [38, 39, 67, 136-138]. The next sections of this document discuss these parameters.

2.8.1 Increased Vasodilator Capacity of Bone Blood Vessels

The effects of PTH on systemic vasodilator function has been reported for decades [139, 140]. For example, cumulative doses of PTH 1-34 relaxed aortic strips up to 50% [141] and renal artery rings by 78% [142], reducing the vasoconstrictor effectiveness of norepinephrine and methoxamine. What has not been investigated until recent years has been the effects of intermittent PTH administration on bone vascular morphology and function. Similar to observations following bolus administration, intermittent PTH administration has systemic effects on vasodilator capacity. For example, 15 days of treatment augmented vasorelaxation of aortic rings to acetylcholine in old (22-24 months) Fischer-344 rats [143], highlighting beneficial aspects of this treatment on the cardiovascular system.

Parathyroid hormone receptor 1 (PTH1R), the primary receptor for PTH and parathyroid hormone-related peptide (PTHrP), is present on bone cells such as osteoblasts [144, 145]. Parathyroid hormone receptor 1 has also been demonstrated on human umbilical vein endothelial cells [146, 147], vascular endothelial cells [148], and vascular smooth muscle cells [149-151]. Comparable to the other vascular beds, bolus delivery of PTH and intermittent administration promote vasodilation of bone blood vessels. For example, in response to cumulative doses of PTH 1-84, PTH 1-34 and PTHrP 1-34 delivered *in vitro*, the femoral PNA from young (3-5 months) male Wistar rats demonstrated moderate-to-strong vasodilator

responsiveness [136]. The vasodilator response was the least and most robust to PTH-1-34 and PTHrP 1-34, respectively, and vasodilation to all 3 analogs of PTH were primarily mediated through vascular endothelial cell function [136].

Intermittent PTH administration over a period of time elicits alterations in endothelial cell function that become independent of PTH. For example, two weeks of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration not only augmented bone volume, but increased vasodilation by 33% in the femoral PNA of young (3-5 months-old) male Wistar rats vs. vehicle-treated controls [39]. Similar to vasodilator mechanism in response to bolus administration, vasodilation resulted primarily from NOmediated, endothelium-dependent mechanisms in response to acetylcholine, suggesting that PTH treatment enhanced endothelial cell responsiveness to factors other than PTH (i.e., acetylcholine) [39]. Similar responses were demonstrated in older (22-24 months) rats, whereby 2 weeks of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration improved NO-mediated, endothelium-dependent vasodilation in response to acetylcholine [67]. Enhanced vasodilator function in response to intermittent PTH administration would presumably aid in the delivery of blood flow to bone, a requisite for enhanced bone metabolism. Thus, the benefits of this treatment include enhanced bone volume and improved endothelium-dependent vasodilator capacity; i.e., two aspects of physiological function impaired with advancing age.

2.8.2 Increased Bone Perfusion

Improvements in vasodilation induced by PTH should enhance the ability of the femoral PNA (and other bone blood vessels) to deliver blood and nutrients to sites of bone formation. Investigators have examined the effects of PTH on bone blood flow [138, 152, 153] and perfusion [137, 154] to address this theory. To date, there is no clear consensus. For example, a bolus dose of PTH 1-34 administered to healthy canines reduced bone blood flow by 50%, 15 minutes following injection [152]. Bone blood flow returned to baseline by 240 minutes post-injection [152]. In addition, a bolus dose of bovine PTH 1-34 reduced femoral and tibial blood flows in rats [153]. In contrast, increased (p < 0.05) perfusion was observed in the femoral diaphysis [137, 154] and whole hindlimb [137] following bolus injections of PTH in mice. Whole hindlimb perfusion was considerably increased (>30%; p<0.05) within 10 to 15 minutes following the injection of PTH 1-34; however these measurements included the entire hindlimb and skeletal blood flow could not be distinguished from blood flow to other tissues [137]. In this same series of investigations, the authors measured perfusion of the femoral diaphysis with a procion red fluorescent tracer, revealing increased (32%; p<0.05%) presence of the tracer in the cortical shell [137]. These findings suggest that the whole hindlimb and intracortical perfusion to the femoral diaphysis were improved by bolus administration of PTH.

Similar to bolus administration, the effects of intermittent PTH administration on bone blood flow and perfusion are variable. In post-menopausal women, skeletal perfusion was assessed by injection of radiopharmaceutical ^{99m}Tc-methylene diphosphonate [138], which approximates bone blood flow [155]. Following 3 and 18 months of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration, (i.e., a recombinant form of PTH 1-84), blood flow to the entire skeleton was augmented by 22% at 3 months and by 34% at 18 months. Additionally, 14 days of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration in 4 month-old female C57BL/6J mice increased tibial perfusion by 27% vs. vehicle-treated controls [154], whereas 4 weeks of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration did not augment tibial and hindlimb perfusion in 10-12 week-old BALB/c male mice [137]. Differences in these findings may relate to the age and sex of the animals and the use of different PTH analogs.

Overall, the effects of bolus and intermittent PTH administration on bone blood flow and perfusion are divergent. Future studies that standardized the duration of administration, the age and sex of the animals, and the PTH analogs are required before a clear understanding is obtained.

2.8.3 Angiogenesis

Tissue blood flow depends on the vasomotor properties of blood vessels as well as the vascular density (i.e., the number of blood vessels) supplying the tissue. In regards to the effects of intermittent PTH administration on the bone vascular system, it may also serve to alter the number of blood vessels within bone [154, 156, 157]. To date, the effects of PTH on bone angiogenesis is not well-clarified. Intermittent PTH 1-34 administration stimulated angiogenesis in the cerebral circulation by promoting the release of endothelial progenitor cells [158]. Thus, it is reasonable that PTH would play a similar role in the bone vascular network. In fact, some studies demonstrated angiogenesis in the skeletal system after PTH administration. For example, continuous [154, 156] and intermittent [154] PTH administration augmented bone vascular density by 40% and 22%, respectively, in the L1-L3 vertebrae and in the tibial metaphysis of mice [154, 156]. Similarly, intermittent PTH 1-84 administration for 14 days in mice augmented (p<0.05) bone vascular density in the tibial metaphysis and diaphysis by 16% and 34%, respectively. [154]. In contrast, a lower number of bone marrow blood vessels in the tibial metaphysis was observed following 15 and 30 days of treatment in young (3-4 months) rats [38].

The lack of angiogenesis observed in this study did not translate into a lack of effect on the entire bone vascular system. Interestingly, the bone marrow blood vessels were spatially closer to sites of new bone formation (i.e., osteoid seams) following PTH treatment [38]. More poignantly, the proximity of the smallest bone marrow blood vessels ($\leq 29 \ \mu m$ in diameter) were closer to the sites of bone remodeling (i.e., 43 μm vs. 67 μm , respectively) in PTH-treated vs. control animals [38]. These findings suggest that spatial relocation of the smallest bone marrow

blood vessels (i.e., capillaries and small arterioles and venules) occurred following intermittent PTH administration. Such a spatial relocation may serve to facilitate nutrient exchange between blood vessels and bone [38]. In accord, bone remodeling observed in human bone biopsies revealed an augmented number of capillaries within 50 μ m from BRCs; i.e., sites of high metabolic activity [159]. Thus, alterations in the bone vascular network following intermittent PTH administration may include the relocation of bone marrow blood vessels. Potential mechanisms by which this may occur are discussed in the next section.

2.9 Matrix Metalloproteinase-9

Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) belongs to the MMP protein family, which is accountable for tissue remodeling [160]. For example, MMP-9-mediated extracellular matrix (ECM) degradation initiates vascular smooth muscle remodeling primarily by the breakdown of type IV collagen in the matrix of blood vessels [161]. In addition, several studies highlight the role of MMP-9 as a chemotactic agent that stimulates cellular migration [162-169]. Intriguingly, it has been demonstrated that MMP-9 is up-regulated in bone following intermittent PTH 1-34 administration in rats [170, 171]. This section illustrates the potential role(s) of MMP-9 in bone with intermittent PTH administration.

2.9.1 The Role of MMP-9

In the skeleton, ECM remodeling in bone results in mineralization and MMPs are associated with these processes [172]. Bone ECM is composed of mineralized hydroxyapatite (i.e., crystals of calcium-phosphate) and type I collagen as the organic ECM [172]. Type I collagen-specific MMPs (i.e., MMP-2 and MMP-14) are theorized to be of primary importance in the degradation of the ECM [173] and formation of the lacunar-canaliculi network [174] in bone. However, MMP-9 (a.k.a. Gelatinase B) plays a significant role in degrading collagen type IV, the basement membrane, and the ECM of blood vessels [161]. Although MMP-9 selectively degrades collagen type IV in the ECM of blood vessels, previous research by McClelland et al. demonstrated that MMP-9 was up-regulated during intermittent PTH administration and was associated with bone anabolism [171]. In addition, MMP-9 is expressed by many cells that are involved in bone remodeling; i.e., osteoclasts [175], osteoblast and osteocytes [171]. The augmented presence of MMP-9 and bone anabolism suggest a potential role for MMP-9 in remodeling of the bone ECM with intermittent PTH administration.

Besides its role in matrix degradation of blood vessels, MMP-9 stimulates the migration and homing of many different cell types, which include those involved in bone remodeling [162, 163, 169], megakaryocytes [165], endothelial progenitor cells [164], hematopoietic progenitor cells [166], and vascular endothelial [176] and smooth muscle cells [167]. In many cases, MMP-9 is induced by stromal cell-derived factor-1 in order to recruit the target cell. Stromal cellderived factor-1 released from bone cells and endothelial cells serves to increase mRNA expression of MMP-9, promoting migration of megakaryocytes and preosteoclasts towards bone [165, 169]. When MMP-9 is inhibited or deleted, impediment of trans-endothelial migration of megakaryocytes occurs [165], as well as diminished osteoclast recruitment in cultured bone tissue [162] and in the tibiae of embryos [163].

Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 also promotes the migration vascular smooth muscle cells [167, 176]. For example, overexpression of MMP-9 in a transgenic mouse model promoted vascular smooth muscle cell migration to levels similar to wild-type mice [167]. Furthermore, in a cell culture study, abolishment of MMP-9 attenuated vascular smooth muscle cell migration in comparison to wild-type cells, while reactivation of MMP-9 restored migration of vascular smooth muscle cells to levels observed in wild-type vascular smooth muscle cells [177]. Vascular endothelial cells are also influenced by MMP-9 [176]. For example, hypoxiainduced up-regulation of MMP-9 in fibrosarcoma cells enhanced endothelial cell migration, while inhibition of MMP-9 prevented endothelial cell migration [176]. Similarly, inhibition of MMP-9 in human microvascular endothelial cells restrained their migration, as assessed with cell migration assays [178]. These data suggest that MMP-9 not only plays a pivotal role in ECM degradation and remodeling but also influences migration and homing of various cell types. Since endothelial cell migration is a required step for angiogenesis [178], these data support the notion that the role of MMP-9 in vascular ECM degradation may be associated with angiogenesis and neovascularization.

2.9.2 *PTH and MMP-9*

Previous studies demonstrated an increased expression of MMP-9 in chondrocytes [170] and long bones [171] following intermittent PTH administration. In the skeleton, PTH induced MMP-9 expression from osteoblasts, osteocytes, and bone marrow cells [171]. As previously mentioned, overexpression of MMP-9 following PTH administration aided in osteoclast recruitment by augmenting the migration of pre-osteoclasts [162, 163, 169]. Thus, bone remodeling induced by intermittent PTH administration may relate to increased expression of MMP-9 as the following manner: 1) partial bone ECM remodeling by MMP-9 [161], 2) differentiation of pre-osteoclasts into osteoclasts [162, 163, 169], and 3) the initiation of bone remodeling. Given that bone marrow blood vessels were observed closer to bone forming sites in PTH-treated vs. control rats [38], MMP-9 may be involved in this spatial relocation. Although more investigations are needed in the context, we theorize that augmented secretion of MMP-9 from bone cells during intermittent PTH administration may serve to attract bone marrow blood vessels towards the surface of bone.

2.10 Conclusions

Advancing age is associated with bone loss and bone vascular dysfunction in the form of diminished vasodilator capacity, vascular rarefaction, and bone marrow blood vessel ossification. Parathyroid hormone is the only FDA approved bone anabolic treatment for osteoporosis and, coincidently, it improves endothelium-dependent vasodilation of bone blood vessels. To date, the influence of intermittent PTH administration on skeletal blood flow and angiogenesis remain controversial; however, relocation of bone marrow blood vessels closer to sites of bone formation has been documented. Given enhanced release MMP-9 during intermittent PTH administration, this chemotactic agent may participate in the relocation of bone marrow blood vessels. In total, the consensus remains that intermittent PTH administration has beneficial effects on bone and bone vascular function. However, given its role in bone formation, intermittent PTH administration may serve to exacerbate bone marrow blood vessel ossification. Currently, no studies have examined this potential negative consequence of PTH treatment. Given the increased volume of ossified bone marrow blood vessels with advancing age and the treatment of elderly individuals with PTH, this question is vital to address. Therefore, the aims of this dissertation are to assess bone marrow blood vessel ossification, bone marrow blood vessel relocation, bone vascular density, MMP-9 density, area and localization, bone microarchitecture, and bone static and dynamic properties in relation to age (Mature vs. Middle-Aged) and

short-term (5- and 10-days) intermittent PTH 1-34 administration. Five and ten days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration in mice is equivalent to approximately six and twelve months of treatment, respectively, in the clinical populations. Findings of this dissertation will confirm the time point when bone loss and bone vascular impairment commence across the life span. Also, the short duration of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration will validate that alterations in the bone vascular system precede the changes in bone following PTH treatment.

2.11 Specific aims

<u>Hypothesis 1:</u> Bone marrow blood vessel ossification will be higher in Middle-Aged vs. Mature mice and short-term intermittent PTH 1-34 administration will augment bone marrow blood vessel ossification in both groups.

Specific Aim 1. Determine the volume and thickness of ossified bone marrow blood vessels in Mature (6-8 month-old) and Middle-Aged (10-12 month-old) C57BL/6 mice following short-term (5 and 10 days) intermittent PTH 1-34 administration.

Hypothesis 2.1: Vascular density will be reduced in Middle-Aged vs. Mature mice and 5- and 10-days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration will have no effect on vascular density in either group.

<u>Hypothesis 2.2</u>: Distances between bone marrow blood vessels and bone will be increased in Middle-Aged mice, and intermittent PTH 1-34 administration will decrease the distances similar to those observed in Mature mice.

Specific Aim 2. Determine bone marrow blood vessel density and the distances between bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone in Mature (6-8 month-old) and Middle-Aged (10-12 month-old) C57BL/6 mice following 5- and 10-days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration.

Hypothesis 3.1: PTH will up-regulate the release of MMP-9 near the trabecular bone surface in both Mature (6-8 month-old) and Middle-Aged (10-12 month-old) mice.

Specific Aim 3. Determine MMP-9 density, area and localization in relation to trabecular bone and bone marrow blood vessels in Mature (6-8 month-old) and Middle-Aged (10-12 month-old) mice following 5- and 10-days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration.

Due to the short duration of intermittent PTH administration, I do not anticipate any changes in bone microarchitecture and bone static and dynamic properties. However, in addition to assessing the alterations in the bone vascular system, the following bone-related parameters have also been assessed:

1) Trabecular bone microarchitecture in the distal femoral metaphysis: bone volume-to-total volume ratio (BV/TV, %), trabecular number (Tb.N,

/mm²), trabecular thickness (Tb.Th, μ m), and trabecular separation (Tb.Sp, μ m).

- Cortical bone parameters at the femoral mid-shaft: cortical volume fraction (Ct.BV/TV, %), and cortical thickness (Ct.Th, μm).
- Trabecular bone static properties related to osteoblast activity: osteoid surface to bone surface ratio (OS/BS, %) and osteoblast surface to bone surface ratio (Ob.S/BS, %).
- 4) Trabecular bone static properties related to osteoclast activity: osteoclast surface to bone surface ratio (Oc.S/BS, %).
- 5) Trabecular bone dynamic properties related to bone formation: singlelabeled surface per bone surface ratio (sLS/BS, %), double-labeled surface per bone surface ratio (dLS/BS, %), mineralizing surfaces to bone surface ratio (MS/BS, %), mineral apposition rate (MAR), and bone formation rate to bone surface ratio (BFR/BS, μm³/μm²/day).

2.12 References

- 1. Kaczkowski, C.H., Skeletal System, in The Gale Encyclopedia of Nursing and Allied Health, B. Narins, Editor. 2013, Gale: Detroit. p. 3042-3048.
- Clarke, B., Normal bone anatomy and physiology. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2008. 3 Suppl 3: p. S131-9.

- Turner, C.H., T.A. Woltman, and D.A. Belongia, Structural changes in rat bone subjected to long-term, in vivo mechanical loading. Bone, 1992. 13(6): p. 417-422.
- Warden, S.J., et al., Cortical and Trabecular Bone Benefits of Mechanical Loading Are Maintained Long Term in Mice Independent of Ovariectomy. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2014. 29(5): p. 1131-1140.
- 5. Forwood, M.R. and A.W. Parker, Repetitive loading, in vivo, of the tibiae and femora of rats: effects of repeated bouts of treadmill-running. Bone and Mineral, 1991. 13(1): p. 35-46.
- Khosla, S., M.J. Oursler, and D.G. Monroe, Estrogen and the skeleton. Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2012. 23(11): p. 576-581.
- Marieb, E.N. and K. Hoehn, Human anatomy & physiology. 9th ed. 2013, Boston: Pearson. xxxiv, 1107 p.
- Brookes, M., Revell, William J., Blood Supply of Bone: Scientific Aspects.
 1 ed. 1998: Springer-Verlag London. 359.
- Hayes, W.C., L.W. Swenson, and D.J. Schurman, Axisymmetric finite element analysis of the lateral tibial plateau. Journal of Biomechanics, 1978. 11(1): p. 21-33.

- Hauge, E.M., et al., Cancellous Bone Remodeling Occurs in Specialized Compartments Lined by Cells Expressing Osteoblastic Markers. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2001. 16(9): p. 1575-1582.
- Parfitt, A.M., Osteonal and hemi-osteonal remodeling: The spatial and temporal framework for signal traffic in adult human bone. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 1994. 55(3): p. 273-286.
- Parfitt, A.M., The Bone Remodeling Compartment: A Circulatory Function for Bone Lining Cells. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2001. 16(9): p. 1583-1585.
- Parfitt, A.M., et al., Bone histomorphometry: standardization of nomenclature, symbols, and units. Report of the ASBMR Histomorphometry Nomenclature Committee. J Bone Miner Res, 1987. 2(6): p. 595-610.
- Busse, B., et al., Reorganization of the femoral cortex due to age-, sex-, and endoprosthetic-related effects emphasized by osteonal dimensions and remodeling. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A, 2010.
 92A(4): p. 1440-1451.
- Bouxsein, M.L., et al., Guidelines for assessment of bone microstructure in rodents using micro–computed tomography. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2010. 25(7): p. 1468-1486.
- Kulak, C.A.M. and D.W. Dempster, Bone histomorphometry: a concise review for endocrinologists and clinicians. Arquivos Brasileiros de Endocrinologia & Metabologia, 2010. 54: p. 87-98.
- Martrille, L., et al., Age at Death Estimation in Adults by Computer-Assisted Histomorphometry of Decalcified Femur Cortex. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 2009. 54(6): p. 1231-1237.
- Gabet, Y. and I. Bab, Microarchitectural Changes in the Aging Skeleton.
 Current Osteoporosis Reports, 2011. 9(4): p. 177.
- Dempster, D.W., et al., Standardized nomenclature, symbols, and units for bone histomorphometry: A 2012 update of the report of the ASBMR Histomorphometry Nomenclature Committee. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2013. 28(1): p. 2-17.
- Hong, S.-H., et al., Computer-Automated Static, Dynamic and Cellular Bone Histomorphometry. Journal of tissue science & engineering, 2012. Suppl 1: p. 004.

- Isaksson, H., et al., Structural parameters of normal and osteoporotic human trabecular bone are affected differently by microCT image resolution.
 Osteoporosis International, 2011. 22(1): p. 167-177.
- Bock, O., et al., Impact of oral ibandronate 150mg once monthly on bone structure and density in post-menopausal osteoporosis or osteopenia derived from in vivo μCT. Bone, 2012. 50(1): p. 317-324.
- Chappard, D., et al., Comparison Insight Bone Measurements by Histomorphometry and μCT. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2005.
 20(7): p. 1177-1184.
- Park, C.H., et al., Three-Dimensional Micro-Computed Tomographic Imaging of Alveolar Bone in Experimental Bone Loss or Repair. Journal of periodontology, 2007. 78(2): p. 273-281.
- Luo, G., et al., Relationship Between Plain Radiographic Patterns and Three- dimensional Trabecular Architecture in The Human Calcaneus. Osteoporosis International, 1999. 9(4): p. 339-345.
- 26. Sant'Anna, E.F., et al., Micro-Computed Tomography Evaluation of the Glenoid Fossa and Mandibular Condyle Bone After Bilateral Vertical Ramus Mandibular Distraction in a Canine Model. Journal of Craniofacial Surgery, 2006. 17(1): p. 111-119.

- 27. Alexander, J.M., et al., Human Parathyroid Hormone 1–34 Reverses Bone Loss in Ovariectomized Mice. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2001. 16(9): p. 1665-1673.
- Kapadia, R.D., et al., Applications of micro-CT and MR microscopy to study pre-clinical models of osteoporosis and osteoarthritis. Technology & Health Care, 1998. 6(5/6): p. 361.
- Waarsing, J.H., J.S. Day, and H. Weinans, An Improved Segmentation Method for In Vivo μCT Imaging. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2004. 19(10): p. 1640-1650.
- 30. Akhter, M.P., et al., Transmenopausal changes in the trabecular bone structure. Bone, 2007. 41(1): p. 111-116.
- 31. Cortet, B., et al., Relationship Between Computed Tomographic Image Analysis and Histomorphometry for Microarchitectural Characterization of Human Calcaneus. Calcified Tissue International, 2004. 75(1): p. 23-31.
- 32. Jilka, R.L., Biology of the basic multicellular unit and the pathophysiology of osteoporosis. Medical and Pediatric Oncology, 2003. 41(3): p. 182-185.
- Parfitt, A.M., Osteoclast precursors as leukocytes: importance of the area code. Bone, 1998. 23(6): p. 491-494.

- Frost, H.M., The skeletal intermediary organization. Metabolic Bone Disease and Related Research, 1983. 4(5): p. 281-290.
- 35. Parfitt, A.M., The mechanism of coupling: a role for the vasculature. Bone, 2000. 26(4): p. 319-323.
- McClugage, S.G. and R.S. McCuskey, Relationship of the microvascular system to bone resorption and growth in situ. Microvascular Research, 1973. 6(1): p. 132-134.
- 37. Colleran, P.N., et al., Alterations in skeletal perfusion with simulated microgravity: a possible mechanism for bone remodeling. Journal of Applied Physiology, 2000. 89(3): p. 1046-1054.
- Prisby, R., et al., Intermittent PTH(1–84) is osteoanabolic but not osteoangiogenic and relocates bone marrow blood vessels closer to bone-forming sites. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2011. 26(11): p. 2583-2596.
- 39. Prisby, R., T. Menezes, and J. Campbell, Vasodilation to PTH (1-84) in bone arteries is dependent upon the vascular endothelium and is mediated partially via VEGF signaling. Bone, 2013. 54(1): p. 68-75.

- 40. Prisby, R.D., et al., Aging and Estrogen Status: A Possible EndotheliumDependent Vascular Coupling Mechanism in Bone Remodeling. Plos One,
 2012. 7(11): p. e48564.
- McCarthy, I., The Physiology of Bone Blood Flow: A Review. JBJS, 2006.
 88: p. 4-9.
- 42. Prisby, R.D., Mechanical, hormonal and metabolic influences on blood vessels, blood flow and bone. Journal of Endocrinology, 2017. 235(3): p. R77-R100.
- 43. Sparks, D.S., et al., Vascularised bone transfer: History, blood supply and contemporary problems. Journal of Plastic, Reconstructive & Aesthetic Surgery, 2017. 70(1): p. 1-11.
- 44. Bridgeman, G. and M. Brookes, Blood supply to the human femoral diaphysis in youth and senescence. Journal of Anatomy, 1996. 188(Pt 3): p. 611-621.
- 45. Ding, L., et al., Endothelial and perivascular cells maintain haematopoietic stem cells. Nature, 2012. 481: p. 457.
- Ono, N., et al., Vasculature-Associated Cells Expressing Nestin in Developing Bones Encompass Early Cells in the Osteoblast and Endothelial Lineage. Developmental Cell, 2014. 29(3): p. 330-339.

- 47. Kunisaki, Y., et al., Arteriolar niches maintain haematopoietic stem cell quiescence. Nature, 2013. 502: p. 637.
- 48. Tothill, P., et al., The Variation with Flow-Rate of the Extraction of Bone-Seeking Tracers in Recirculation Experiments, in Metals in Bone: Proceedings of a EULEP symposium on the deposition, retention and effects of radioactive and stable metals in bone and bone marrow tissues, October 11th – 13th 1984, Angers, France, N.D. Priest, Editor. 1985, Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht. p. 363-372.
- Wootton, R. and J. Reeve, The Clinical Measurement of Skeletal Blood Flow and of the Extraction Ratios of Calcium and Strontium. Clinical Science, 1975. 48(2): p. 11P-11P.
- 50. McCarthy, I.D., S.P.F. Hughes, and J.S. Orr, An experimental model to study the relationship between blood flow and uptake for bone-seeking radionuclides in normal bone. Clinical Physics and Physiological Measurement, 1980. 1(2): p. 135.
- Lunde, P.K.M. and K. Michelsen, Determination of Cortical Blood Flow in Rabbit Femur by Radioactive Microspheres. Acta Physiologica Scandinavica, 1970. 80(1): p. 39-44.

- 52. Gross, P.M., D.D. Heistad, and M.L. Marcus, Neurohumoral regulation of blood flow to bones and marrow. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 1979. 237(4): p. H440-H448.
- 53. Joyner, M.J. and D.P. Casey, Regulation of Increased Blood Flow (Hyperemia) to Muscles During Exercise: A Hierarchy of Competing Physiological Needs. Physiological Reviews, 2015. 95(2): p. 549-601.
- 54. Dominguez, J.M., et al., Increased nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation of bone resistance arteries is associated with increased trabecular bone volume after endurance training in rats. Bone, 2010. 46(3): p. 813-819.
- 55. Prisby, R.D., et al., Aging Reduces Skeletal Blood Flow, Endothelium-Dependent Vasodilation, and NO Bioavailability in Rats. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2007. 22(8): p. 1280-1288.
- 56. Stabley, J.N., et al., Exercise Training Augments Regional Bone and Marrow Blood Flow during Exercise. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 2014. 46(11): p. 2107-2112.
- 57. Spencer, J.A., et al., Direct measurement of local oxygen concentration in the bone marrow of live animals. Nature, 2014. 508(7495): p. 269-273.

- Van Dyke, D., Similarity in distribution of skeletal blood flow and erythropoietic marrow. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research, 1967.
 52: p. 37-51.
- 59. Turner, R.T., et al., Animal Models For Osteoporosis. Reviews in Endocrine and Metabolic Disorders, 2001. 2(1): p. 117-127.
- Etienne E. Joss, E.H.S.a.K.A.Z., Skeletal Maturation in Rats with Special Reference to Order and Time of Epiphysial Closure. Endocrinology, 1963.
 72: p. 117-122.
- Zhou, X., et al., Chondrocytes Transdifferentiate into Osteoblasts in Endochondral Bone during Development, Postnatal Growth and Fracture Healing in Mice. PLoS Genetics, 2014. 10(12): p. e1004820.
- 62. Prendiville, J., E.A. Bingham, and D. Burrows, Premature epiphyseal closure—a complication of etretinate therapy in children. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 1986. 15(6): p. 1259-1262.
- Parfitt, A., Age-related structural changes in trabecular and cortical bone: cellular mechanisms and biomechanical consequences. Calcified Tissue International, 1984. 36: p. S 123-S128.

- 64. Shahnazari, M., et al., Bone turnover markers in peripheral blood and marrow plasma reflect trabecular bone loss but not endocortical expansion in aging mice. Bone, 2012. 50(3): p. 628-637.
- Weinstein, R.S. and M.S. Hutson, Decreased trabecular width and increased trabecular spacing contribute to bone loss with aging. Bone, 1987. 8(3): p. 137-142.
- Willingham, M.D., et al., Age-Related Changes in Bone Structure and Strength in Female and Male BALB/c Mice. Calcified Tissue International, 2010. 86(6): p. 470-483.
- 67. Lee, S., et al., Intermittent PTH 1–34 administration improves the marrow microenvironment and endothelium-dependent vasodilation in bone arteries of aged rats. Journal of Applied Physiology, 2018. 124(6): p. 1426-1437.
- Pietschmann, P., et al., Bone structure and metabolism in a rodent model of male senile osteoporosis. Experimental Gerontology, 2007. 42(11): p. 1099-1108.
- Ward, K.A., et al., Influence of age and sex steroids on bone density and geometry in middle-aged and elderly European men. Osteoporosis International, 2011. 22(5): p. 1513-1523.

- 70. Christiansen, B.A., et al., Mechanical Contributions of the Cortical and Trabecular Compartments Contribute to Differences in Age-Related Changes in Vertebral Body Strength in Men and Women Assessed by QCT-Based Finite Element Analysis. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2011. 26(5): p. 974-983.
- Ramanadham, S., et al., Age-Related Changes in Bone Morphology Are
 Accelerated in Group VIA Phospholipase A(2) (iPLA(2)β)-Null Mice. The
 American Journal of Pathology, 2008. 172(4): p. 868-881.
- 72. Ellman, R., et al., Partial Reductions in Mechanical Loading Yield Proportional Changes in Bone Density, Bone Architecture, and Muscle Mass. J Bone Miner Res, 2013. 28(4): p. 875-885.
- 73. Sihvonen, S., et al., Postural Balance and Self-Reported Balance Confidence in Older Adults with a Hip Fracture History. Gerontology, 2009. 55(6): p. 630-636.
- 74. Melton, L.J., Epidemiology of hip fractures: Implications of the exponential increase with age. Bone, 1996. 18(3, Supplement 1): p. S121-S125.
- Liang, W. and T. Chikritzhs, The Effect of Age on Fracture Risk: A Population-Based Cohort Study. Journal of Aging Research, 2016. 2016: p. 5071438.

- Kanis, J.A., et al., A New Approach to the Development of Assessment Guidelines for Osteoporosis. Osteoporosis International, 2002. 13(7): p. 527-536.
- 77. Hui, S.L., C.W. Slemenda, and C.C. Johnston, Age and bone mass as predictors of fracture in a prospective study. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1988. 81(6): p. 1804-1809.
- Lopas, L.A., et al., Fractures in Geriatric Mice Show Decreased Callus Expansion and Bone Volume. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research, 2014. 472(11): p. 3523-3532.
- 79. Boskey, A.L. and R. Coleman, Aging and Bone. Journal of Dental Research, 2010. 89(12): p. 1333-1348.
- AlGhatrif, M. and E.G. Lakatta, The Conundrum of Arterial Stiffness, Elevated blood pressure, and Aging. Current hypertension reports, 2015. 17(2): p. 12-12.
- Bentov, I. and M.J. Reed, The Effect of Aging on the Cutaneous Microvasculature. Microvascular Research, 2015. 100: p. 25-31.
- Tümer, N., et al., The effects of aging on the functional and structural properties of the rat basilar artery. Physiological Reports, 2014. 2(6): p. e12031.

- Feher, A., Z. Broskova, and Z. Bagi, Age-related impairment of conducted dilation in human coronary arterioles. American Journal of Physiology -Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 2014. 306(12): p. H1595-H1601.
- Shipley, R.D. and J.M. Muller-Delp, Aging decreases vasoconstrictor responses of coronary resistance arterioles through endothelium-dependent mechanisms. Cardiovascular Research, 2005. 66(2): p. 374-383.
- 85. Prisby, R.D., et al., Age, Gender, and Hormonal Status Modulate the Vascular Toxicity of the Diesel Exhaust Extract Phenanthraquinone. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A, 2008. 71(7): p. 464-470.
- 86. Bloomfield, S.A., H.A. Hogan, and M.D. Delp, Decreases in bone blood flow and bone material properties in aging Fischer-344 rats. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 2002(396): p. 248-57.
- 87. Hruza Z, W.M., Diminution of bone blood flow and capillary network in rats during aging. Journal of Gerontology, 1969. 24(3): p. 315-320.
- Ramasamy, S.K., et al., Blood flow controls bone vascular function and osteogenesis. Nature Communications, 2016. 7: p. 13601.
- Griffith, J.F., et al., Reduced Bone Perfusion in Osteoporosis: Likely Causes in an Ovariectomy Rat Model. Radiology, 2010. 254(3): p. 739-746.

- Griffith, J.F., et al., Compromised Bone Marrow Perfusion in Osteoporosis.
 Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2008. 23(7): p. 1068-1075.
- 91. Ma, H.T., et al. Bone marrow perfusion of proximal femur varied with BMD—A longitudinal study by DCE-MRI. in 2013 35th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC). 2013.
- 92. Ou-Yang, L. and G.-m. Lu, Dysfunctional Microcirculation of the Lumbar Vertebral Marrow Prior to the Bone Loss and Intervertebral Discal Degeneration. Spine, 2015. 40(10): p. E593-E600.
- 93. Burkhardt, R., et al., Changes in trabecular bone, hematopoiesis and bone marrow vessels in aplastic anemia, primary osteoporosis, and old age: A comparative histomorphometric study. Bone, 1987. 8(3): p. 157-164.
- 94. Lu, C., et al., Effect of age on vascularization during fracture repair. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society, 2008. 26(10): p. 1384-1389.
- Prisby, R.D., Bone Marrow Blood Vessel Ossification and "Microvascular Dead Space" in Rat and Human Long Bone. Bone, 2014. 64: p. 195-203.
- 96. Viboolvorakul, S., et al., Increased capillary vascularity in the femur of aged rats by exercise training. Microvascular Research, 2009. 78(3): p. 459-463.

- 97. Wang, J., et al., Aging-Induced Collateral Dysfunction: Impaired Responsiveness of Collaterals and Susceptibility to Apoptosis via Dysfunctional eNOS signaling. Journal of cardiovascular translational research, 2011. 4(6): p. 779-789.
- 98. Moraes, M.S., et al., Endothelium-derived nitric oxide (NO) activates the NO-epidermal growth factor receptor-mediated signaling pathway in bradykinin-stimulated angiogenesis. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 2014. 558: p. 14-27.
- 99. Kusumbe, A.P., et al., Age-dependent modulation of vascular niches for haematopoietic stem cells. Nature, 2016. 532(7599): p. 380-384.
- Cannata-Andia, J.B., P. Roman-Garcia, and K. Hruska, The connections between vascular calcification and bone health. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, 2011. 26(11): p. 3429-3436.
- Bessueille, L. and D. Magne, Inflammation: a culprit for vascular calcification in atherosclerosis and diabetes. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 2015. 72(13): p. 2475-2489.
- 102. Matias, P.J., et al., 25-Hydroxyvitamin D3, arterial calcifications and cardiovascular risk markers in haemodialysis patients. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, 2009. 24(2): p. 611-618.

- Rodríguez-García, M., et al., Vascular calcifications, vertebral fractures and mortality in haemodialysis patients. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, 2009. 24(1): p. 239-246.
- 104. London, G.M., et al., Association of Bone Activity, Calcium Load, Aortic Stiffness, and Calcifications in ESRD. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN, 2008. 19(9): p. 1827-1835.
- 105. Moe, S.M. and N.X. Chen, Pathophysiology of Vascular Calcification in Chronic Kidney Disease. Circulation Research, 2004. 95(6): p. 560-567.
- 106. Snell-Bergeon, J.K., M.J. Budoff, and J.E. Hokanson, Vascular Calcification in Diabetes: Mechanisms and Implications. Current Diabetes Reports, 2013. 13(3): p. 391-402.
- 107. Thompson, B. and D.A. Towler, Arterial calcification and bone physiology: role of the bone-vascular axis. Nature reviews. Endocrinology, 2012. 8(9): p. 529-543.
- Collett, G.D.M. and A.E. Canfield, Angiogenesis and Pericytes in the Initiation of Ectopic Calcification. Circulation Research, 2005. 96(9): p. 930-938.
- 109. Guo, W., et al., Quantification In Situ of Crystalline Cholesterol and Calcium Phosphate Hydroxyapatite in Human Atherosclerotic Plaques by

Solid-State Magic Angle Spinning NMR. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 2000. 20(6): p. 1630-1636.

- Sage, A.P., Y. Tintut, and L.L. Demer, Regulatory Mechanisms in Atherosclerotic Calcification. Nature reviews. Cardiology, 2010. 7(9): p. 528-536.
- 111. Reid, D.G., et al., Lipids in biocalcification: contrasts and similarities between intimal and medial vascular calcification and bone by NMR. Journal of Lipid Research, 2012. 53(8): p. 1569-1575.
- 112. Ramseier, E., Untersuchungen über arteriosklerotische Veränderungen der Knochenarterien. Virchows Archiv für pathologische Anatomie und Physiologie und für klinische Medizin, 1962. 336(1): p. 77-86.
- Brennise, C.V. and C.A. Squier, Blood flow in maxilla and mandible of normal and atherosclerotic rhesus monkeys. Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine, 1985. 14(10): p. 800-808.
- 114. Laroche, M., Intraosseous circulation from physiology to disease. Joint Bone Spine, 2002. 69(3): p. 262-269.
- 115. Hock, J.M. and I. Gera, Effects of continuous and intermittent administration and inhibition of resorption on the anabolic response of bone

to parathyroid hormone. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 1992. 7(1): p. 65-72.

- 116. Uzawa, T., et al., Comparison of the effects of intermittent and continuous administration of human parathyroid hormone(1–34) on rat bone. Bone, 1995. 16(4): p. 477-484.
- 117. Poole, K.E.S. and J. Reeve, Parathyroid hormone a bone anabolic and catabolic agent. Current Opinion in Pharmacology, 2005. 5(6): p. 612-617.
- Esbrit, P. and M.J. Alcaraz, Current perspectives on parathyroid hormone (PTH) and PTH-related protein (PTHrP) as bone anabolic therapies. Biochemical Pharmacology, 2013. 85(10): p. 1417-1423.
- 119. Greenspan, S.L., et al., Effect of recombinant human parathyroid hormone (1-84) on vertebral fracture and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: A randomized trial. Annals of Internal Medicine, 2007. 146(5): p. 326-339.
- Henriksen, K., et al., Local communication on and within bone controls bone remodeling. Bone, 2009. 44(6): p. 1026-1033.
- 121. Kamo, K., et al., Intermittent weekly administration of human parathyroid hormone (1–34) improves bone-hydroxyapatite block bonding in

ovariectomized rats. Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism, 2010. 28(6): p. 634-640.

- 122. Lane, N.E., et al., Intermittent treatment with human parathyroid hormone (hPTH[1-34]) increased trabecular bone volume but not connectivity in osteopenic rats. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 1995. 10(10): p. 1470-1477.
- 123. Nakajima, A., et al., Mechanisms for the enhancement of fracture healing in rats treated with intermittent low-dose human parathyroid hormone (1-34). Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2002. 17(11): p. 2038-2047.
- 124. Rubin, M.R. and J.P. Bilezikian, The anabolic effects of parathyroid hormone therapy. Clinics in Geriatric Medicine, 2003. 19(2): p. 415-432.
- Frolik, C.A., et al., Anabolic and catabolic bone effects of human parathyroid hormone (1-34) are predicted by duration of hormone exposure.
 Bone, 2003. 33(3): p. 372-379.
- 126. Robling, A.G., et al., Anabolic and Catabolic Regimens of Human Parathyroid Hormone 1–34 Elicit Bone- and Envelope-Specific Attenuation of Skeletal Effects in Sost-Deficient Mice. Endocrinology, 2011. 152(8): p. 2963-2975.

- 127. Dobnig, H. and R.T. Turner, The Effects of Programmed Administration of Human Parathyroid Hormone Fragment (1–34) on Bone Histomorphometry and Serum Chemistry in Rats*. Endocrinology, 1997. 138(11): p. 4607-4612.
- 128. Bellows, C.G., et al., Parathyroid Hormone Reversibly Suppresses the Differentiation of Osteoprogenitor Cells into Functional Osteoblasts*. Endocrinology, 1990. 127(6): p. 3111-3116.
- 129. Ishizuya, T., et al., Parathyroid hormone exerts disparate effects on osteoblast differentiation depending on exposure time in rat osteoblastic cells. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1997. 99(12): p. 2961-2970.
- Siilin, H., et al., Prevalence of Primary Hyperparathyroidism and Impact on Bone Mineral Density in Elderly Men: MrOs Sweden. World Journal of Surgery, 2011. 35(6): p. 1266-1272.
- 131. Iida-Klein, A., et al., Short-term continuous infusion of human parathyroid hormone 1–34 fragment is catabolic with decreased trabecular connectivity density accompanied by hypercalcemia in C57BL/J6 mice. Journal of Endocrinology, 2005. 186(3): p. 549-557.

- 132. Reeve, J., et al., Anabolic effect of human parathyroid hormone fragment on trabecular bone in involutional osteoporosis: a multicentre trial. British Medical Journal, 1980. 280(6228): p. 1340-1344.
- 133. El Maghraoui, A., et al., Osteoporosis, vertebral fractures and metabolic syndrome in postmenopausal women. Bmc Endocrine Disorders, 2014. 14: p. 93.
- Neuprez, A. and J.-Y. Reginster, Bone-forming agents in the management of osteoporosis. Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2008. 22(5): p. 869-883.
- 135. Dobnig, H. and R.T. Turner, Evidence that intermittent treatment with parathyroid hormone increases bone formation in adult rats by activation of bone lining cells. Endocrinology, 1995. 136(8): p. 3632-3638.
- Benson, T., et al., Mechanisms of vasodilation to PTH 1–84, PTH 1–34, and
 PTHrP 1–34 in rat bone resistance arteries. Osteoporosis International,
 2016. 27(5): p. 1817-1826.
- 137. Gohin, S., et al., The anabolic action of intermittent parathyroid hormone on cortical bone depends partly on its ability to induce nitric oxide-mediated vasorelaxation in BALB/c mice. Cell Biochemistry and Function, 2016. 34(2): p. 52-62.

- 138. Moore, A.E.B., et al., Changes observed in radionuclide bone scans during and after teriparatide treatment for osteoporosis. European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging, 2012. 39(2): p. 326-336.
- Charbon, G.A., Vasodilator action of parathyroid hormone used as bioassay. Archives internationales de pharmacodynamie et de therapie, 1969. 178(2): p. 296-303.
- 140. Charbon, G.A., F. Brummer, and R.S. Reneman, Diuretic and vascular action of parathyroid extracts in animals and man. Archives internationales de pharmacodynamie et de therapie, 1968. 171(1): p. 1-11.
- 141. Nickols, G.A., Increased cyclic AMP in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells and relaxation of aortic strips by parathyroid hormone. European Journal of Pharmacology, 1985. 116(1): p. 137-144.
- 142. Winquist, R.J., E.P. Baskin, and G.P. Vlasuk, Synthetic tumor-derived human hypercalcemic factor exhibits parathyroid hormone-like vasorelaxation in renal arteries. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 1987. 149(1): p. 227-232.
- 143. Guers, J.J., et al., Intermittent parathyroid hormone administration attenuates endothelial dysfunction in old rats. Journal of Applied Physiology, 2017. 122(1): p. 76-81.

- 144. Calvi, L.M., et al., Activated parathyroid hormone/parathyroid hormonerelated protein receptor in osteoblastic cells differentially affects cortical and trabecular bone. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2001. 107(3): p. 277-286.
- 145. Juppner, H., et al., A G protein-linked receptor for parathyroid hormone and parathyroid hormone-related peptide. Science, 1991. 254(5034): p. 1024-1026.
- 146. Carlos M. Isales, B.S., Roni J. Bollag, Qing Zhong, Ke-Hong Ding, Wei Du, Jose Rodriguez-Commes, Raquel Lopez, Oscar R. Rosales, Jose Gasalla-Herraiz, Richard McCarthy, and Paula Q. Barrett, Functional parathyroid hormone receptors are present in an umbilical vein endothelial cell line. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism, 2000. 279(3): p. E654-E662.
- 147. Rashid, G., et al., Parathyroid hormone stimulates the endothelial nitric oxide synthase through protein kinase A and C pathways. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, 2007. 22(10): p. 2831-2837.
- 148. Jiang, B., et al., Expression of Parathyroid Hormone/Parathyroid Hormone-Related Protein Receptor in Vascular Endothelial Cells. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology, 1998. 31: p. S142-S144.

- 149. Mok, L.L.S., et al., Parathyroid hormone-related protein relaxes rat gastric smooth muscle and shows cross-desensitization with parathyroid hormone. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 1989. 4(3): p. 433-439.
- 150. Pang, P.K.T., et al., Cyclic AMP and the vascular action of parathyroid hormone. Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology, 1986. 64(12): p. 1543-1547.
- Ureña, P., et al., Parathyroid hormone (PTH)/PTH-related peptide receptor messenger ribonucleic acids are widely distributed in rat tissues. Endocrinology, 1993. 133(2): p. 617-623.
- 152. Brindley, G.W., et al., Parathyroid hormone effects on skeletal exchangeable calcium and bone blood flow. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 1988. 255(1): p. H94-H100.
- 153. Cochrane, E. and I.D. McCarthy, Rapid effects of parathyroid hormone(1–34) and prostaglandin E2 on bone blood flow and strontium clearance in the rat in vivo. Journal of Endocrinology, 1991. 131(3): p. 359-365.
- 154. Roche, B., et al., Parathyroid Hormone 1-84 Targets Bone Vascular Structure and Perfusion in Mice: Impacts of Its Administration Regimen and of Ovariectomy. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2014. 29(7): p. 1608-1618.

- 155. Blake, G.M., et al., Quantitative studies of bone with the use of 18F-fluoride and 99mTc-methylene diphosphonate. Seminars in Nuclear Medicine, 2001. 31(1): p. 28-49.
- Jilka, R.L., et al., Continuous Elevation of PTH Increases the Number of Osteoblasts via Both Osteoclast-Dependent and -Independent Mechanisms.
 Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2010. 25(11): p. 2427-2437.
- Tomlinson, R.E. and M.J. Silva, Skeletal Blood Flow in Bone Repair and Maintenance. Bone Research, 2013. 1(4): p. 311-322.
- 158. Wang, L.-L., et al., Mobilization of Endogenous Bone Marrow Derived Endothelial Progenitor Cells and Therapeutic Potential of Parathyroid Hormone after Ischemic Stroke in Mice. Plos One, 2014. 9(2): p. e87284.
- 159. Kristensen, H.B., et al., Increased presence of capillaries next to remodeling sites in adult human cancellous bone. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2013. 28(3): p. 574-585.
- 160. Shimokawa, K.-i., et al., Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9 activities in human seminal plasma. MHR: Basic science of reproductive medicine, 2002. 8(1): p. 32-36.

- 161. Yabluchanskiy, A., et al., Matrix metalloproteinase-9: Many shades of function in cardiovascular disease. Physiology (Bethesda), 2013. 28(6): p. 391-403.
- 162. Blavier, L. and J.M. Delaisse, Matrix metalloproteinases are obligatory for the migration of preosteoclasts to the developing marrow cavity of primitive long bones. Journal of Cell Science, 1995. 108(12): p. 3649-3659.
- 163. Engsig, M.T., et al., Matrix Metalloproteinase 9 and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Are Essential for Osteoclast Recruitment into Developing Long Bones. The Journal of Cell Biology, 2000. 151(4): p. 879-890.
- 164. Huang, P.-H., et al., Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 Is Essential for Ischemia-Induced Neovascularization by Modulating Bone Marrow–Derived Endothelial Progenitor Cells. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 2009. 29(8): p. 1179-1184.
- 165. Lane, W.J., et al., Stromal-derived factor 1–induced megakaryocyte migration and platelet production is dependent on matrix metalloproteinases. Blood, 2000. 96(13): p. 4152-4159.
- 166. Rao, Q., et al., Production of matrix metalloproteinase-9 by cord blood CD34+ cells and its role in migration. Annals of Hematology, 2004. 83(7): p. 409-413.

- 167. Scott, J.A., et al., The multifunctional Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent kinase II regulates vascular smooth muscle migration through matrix metalloproteinase 9. American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 2012. 302(10): p. H1953-H1964.
- 168. Vu, T.H., et al., MMP-9/Gelatinase B Is a Key Regulator of Growth Plate Angiogenesis and Apoptosis of Hypertrophic Chondrocytes. Cell, 1998.
 93(3): p. 411-422.
- 169. Yu, X., et al., Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) recruits osteoclast precursors by inducing chemotaxis, matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) activity, and collagen transmigration. J Bone Miner Res, 2003. 18(8): p. 1404-18.
- 170. Kawashima-Ohya, Y., et al., Effects of Parathyroid Hormone (PTH) and PTH-Related Peptide on Expressions of Matrix Metalloproteinase- 2, -3, and -9 in Growth Plate Chondrocyte Cultures*. Endocrinology, 1998. 139(4): p. 2120-2127.
- McClelland, P., et al., Intermittent administration of parathyroid hormone (1-34) stimulates matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) expression in rat long bone. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 1998. 70(3): p. 391-401.

- 172. Alford, A.I., K.M. Kozloff, and K.D. Hankenson, Extracellular matrix networks in bone remodeling. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 2015. 65: p. 20-31.
- 173. Holmbeck, K., et al., The metalloproteinase MT1-MMP is required for normal development and maintenance of osteocyte processes in bone. Journal of Cell Science, 2005. 118(1): p. 147-156.
- 174. Inoue, K., et al., A Crucial Role for Matrix Metalloproteinase 2 in Osteocytic Canalicular Formation and Bone Metabolism. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2006. 281(44): p. 33814-33824.
- 175. Sternlicht, M.D. and Z. Werb, How Matrix Metalloproteinases Regulate Cell Behavior. Annual review of cell and developmental biology, 2001. 17: p. 463-516.
- 176. Lee, S.W., et al., Inhibition of endothelial cell migration through the downregulation of MMP-9 by A-kinase anchoring protein 12. Mol Med Rep, 2011. 4(1): p. 145-9.
- Johnson, J.L., et al., Matrix Metalloproteinase (MMP)-3 Activates MMP-9 Mediated Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Migration and Neointima Formation in Mice. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 2011. 31(9): p. e35-e44.

178. Jadhav, U., et al., Inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase-9 reduces in vitro invasion and angiogenesis in human microvascular endothelial cells. International Journal of Oncology, 2004. 25(5): p. 1407-1414.

Chapter 3

Short-Term Intermittent PTH 1-34 Administration and Bone Marrow Blood Vessel Ossification in Mature and Middle-Aged C57BL/6 Mice

Seungyong Lee and Rhonda Prisby

Department of Kinesiology, University of Texas at Arlington, Arlington, TX

Submitted to Bone Report: March 2018

3.1 Abstract

INTRODUCTION: Intermittent parathyroid hormone (PTH) administration augments bone and progressive bone marrow blood vessel (BMBV) ossification occurs with advancing age. Since intermittent PTH administration augments bone, it may also serve to increase BMBV ossification. I assessed the influence of 5- and 10-days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration on trabecular and cortical bone and BMBV ossification in mature (6-8 mon; n=30) and middle-aged (10-12 mon; n=30) male and female C57BL/6 mice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: Mice were divided accordingly: control (CON) and 5-days (5dPTH) and 10-days (10dPTH) of PTH. Mice were given PBS (50 µl) or PTH 1-34 (43 µg/kg/d) for 5- and 10-consecutive days. Trabecular bone microarchitecture (i.e., BV/TV [%], Tb.Th [µm], Tb.N [/mm²], and Tb.Sp [µm]) was assessed in the distal femoral metaphysis and cortical bone parameters (i.e., Ct.BV/TV [%] and Ct.Th [µm]) at the femoral mid-shaft. BMBV ossification (i.e., ossified vessel volume [OsVV, %] and ossified vessel thickness [OsV.Th, µm]) was assessed in the medullary cavity of the femoral shaft. All parameters were determined by μ CT. At this sample size, no gender-related differences were observed so female and male data were pooled.

RESULTS: There were no main effects nor interactions for trabecular and cortical bone parameters. OsVV tended (p=0.057) to be higher ($0.18\pm0.04\%$ vs. $0.09\pm0.02\%$, respectively) and OsV.Th was higher (p<0.05; 17.4 ± 1.6 µm vs.

 $12.1\pm1.4 \,\mu$ m, respectively) in Middle-Aged vs. Mature mice. OsVV was not altered, but ossified vessels tended (p=0.08) to be thicker in 10dPTH (17.6±2.0 μ m) vs. CON (12.5±1.7 μ m). No interactions were observed for OsVV and OsV.Th. CONCLUSIONS: This is the first report of ossified BMBV in C57BL/6 mice. The increased OsV.Th in Middle-Aged mice coincides with previous reports of increased OsVV in aged rats. The tendency of augmented OsV.Th in 10dPTH suggests that this treatment may ultimately impair the patency of bone marrow blood vessels.

3.2 Introduction

The vascular system is crucial for the optimal functioning of bone and bone marrow. Blood vessels deliver O_2 , nutrients and systemic hormones to these tissues and remove waste products [1-3]. Additionally, immune cells [4] and precursor cells involved in bone remodeling are produced in the marrow and blood vessels are responsible for the transport of these cells [5, 6]. Thus, blood vessels are fundamental for bone remodeling [7-9] and, in regards to hematopoiesis, play a role in stem cell niches [10, 11].

Given the various roles of the bone vascular system in the day-to-day functioning of a healthy skeleton, it has been theorized that dysfunction in the bone vascular network is highly associated with dysfunction in bone and bone marrow [12-17]. For example, diminished bone blood flow or perfusion [12, 14-16, 18] and impaired vasodilator function of bone blood vessels [14, 16, 19] are associated with reduced skeletal mass in rats and humans [14-16, 18]. Further, age-related rarefaction of blood vessels coincides with bone loss and augmented bone marrow adiposity [20, 21]. In a rat aging model, we recently described a novel pathology whereby bone marrow blood vessels (BMBV) progressively and theoretically convert into bone (i.e., BMBV ossification) with advancing age [21]. Ossified blood vessels were also present in amputated long bones from elderly patients with arteriosclerotic vascular disease and peripheral vascular disease with cellulitis [21]. These findings confirm the translation of this disease to the human condition.

Ossification of BMBV is characterized by osteocyte lacunae on the abluminal surface and may result from a transition of vascular endothelial and/or smooth muscle cells into osteogenic phenotypes [21]. Additionally, the etiologies of this disease may be attributable to the bone marrow microenvironment and the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines from the resident cells [22]. Regardless of the etiologies, ossified BMBV lose vasomotor function (i.e., vasodilator and vasoconstrictor activity) and have reduced or abolished patency, resulting in "microvascular dead space" within bone [21]. "Microvascular dead space" presumably contributes to the age-related declines in skeletal blood flow or perfusion [12, 14-16, 18] and reversal in direction of skeletal blood flow [23], potentially impacting delivery of nutrients, systemic hormones and precursor cells to bone and bone marrow [13, 16, 21]. Such a progressive pathology may ultimately

contribute to the diminished bone mass observed with advanced age [12, 14, 16, 21].

Intermittent parathyroid hormone (PTH) administration is osteogenic and a well-known anabolic agent used to treat conditions of low bone mass [24, 25]. Intermittent PTH administration has regulatory effects on bone cellular communications and remodeling [25, 26]. For example, intermittent PTH administration augmented osteoblast differentiation and activated bone lining cells [27], in addition to reducing osteoblast apoptosis [28]. While the effects of intermittent PTH administration on bone have been well documented, PTH also elicits vasodilation of blood vessels in various organs [29-31], including the skeleton [17, 32]. This physiological effect may be particularly important for the bone vascular network in terms of enhanced blood flow delivery during the augmented bone metabolism induced by intermittent PTH administration. In fact, augmented bone volume following 15 days of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration in young rats was accompanied by enhanced endothelium-dependent vasodilation of the femoral principal nutrient artery (PNA) [17]; i.e., the primary conduit for blood flow to long bones [1]. Additionally, intermittent PTH administration was demonstrated to augment bone vascular density (i.e., blood vessel number) and skeletal perfusion [33, 34]. In contrast, bone vascular density was lower in PTHtreated vs. control rats following 15- and 30-days of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration [35].

The totality of data suggest a beneficial physiological outcome for several bone vascular parameters (i.e., vasodilator capacity of blood vessels, blood flow and angiogenesis) following intermittent PTH administration that would facilitate bone accrual. However, given that intermittent PTH administration is effective at eliciting bone formation, it may also and unfortunately promote or exacerbate BMBV ossification. The long-term consequences of such a result would serve to further reduce the ability of bone blood vessels to deliver flow to the aging skeleton. Since BMBV ossification has been demonstrated in an aging rat model and in human amputated long bones [35], I hypothesized that BMBV ossification would be observed in Mature and Middle-Aged C57BL/6 mice and that it would be more severe in the Middle-Aged animals. Additionally, previous investigations revealed that physiological stimuli influence the bone vascular system prior to impacting bone [33, 36]. Thus, I chose short duration protocols (i.e., 5 and 10 days) to capture these sequences of events. Therefore, I hypothesize that short-term intermittent PTH 1-34 administration would not be of sufficient duration to alter trabecular and cortical bone parameters but would enhance BMBV ossification in Mature and Middle-aged C57BL/6 mice.

3.3 Materials and Methods

All animal experiments were conducted and performed according to the protocols approved by University of Delaware and University of Texas at Arlington Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees and conform to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the National Institutes of Health (NIH Publication No. 85-23, revised 1996). Mature (6-8 month-old) and Middle-Aged (10-12 month-old) female and male C57BL/6 mice were obtained from a mouse colony at the University of Delaware. They were housed in standard cages in a temperature- (23±2 °C) and light-controlled (12h/12h light/dark) room. Tap water and regular mouse chow were provided *ad libitum*.

3.3.1 Intermittent Parathyroid Hormone Administration and Sample Preparation

According to body mass, Mature and Middle-Aged mice were divided into the following six groups: 1) Mature control (Mature CON; n=10); 2) Mature with five days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration (Mature 5dPTH; n=10); 3) Mature with ten days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration (Mature 10dPTH; n=10); 4) Middle-Aged CON (Middle-Aged CON; n=10); 5) Middle-Aged 5dPTH (n=10); and 6) Middle-Aged 10dPTH (n=10). According to treatment, mice received subcutaneous injections of either 43 μ g/kg/day of PTH 1-34 (ProSpec, East Brunswick, NJ) for five and ten consecutive days or 50 μ l/day of phosphate buffered saline as a vehicle for ten consecutive days. A dose of 43 μ g/kg/day of PTH 1-34 is molecularly equivalent to 100 μ g/kg/day of PTH 1-84 [37]. PTH and the vehicle were administrated at the same time daily. After completion of the protocol, all mice were anesthetized by inhalation of isoflurane (2.5% to O₂ balance). Mice were sacrificed via myocardial removal and left femora were collected. The femora were cleaned and fixed overnight in 4% paraformaldehyde at 4°C. Femora were subsequently stored in 70% ethanol at -20°C until scanning by micro-computed tomography (MicroCT).

3.3.2 Micro-Computed Tomography (MicroCT) Scans and Analyses

MicroCT scans were performed using a high-resolution μ CT 35 (Scanco Medical, Brüttisellen, Switzerland). Femora were scanned at a resolution of 10 µm at 55kVp. Trabecular bone microarchitecture was determined from 60 slices in the distal femoral metaphysis, beginning 600 µm inferior from an anatomically defined region of the growth plate. The following trabecular bone microarchitectural parameters were calculated: bone volume/total volume ratio (BV/TV, %), trabecular thickness (Tb.Th, µm), trabecular number (Tb.N, /mm²) and trabecular separation (Tb.Sp, μ m). Cortical bone parameters were determined from 50 slices at the femoral mid-shaft and the following parameters were calculated: cortical bone volume (Ct.BV/TV, %) and cortical thickness (Ct.Th, μ m). In addition, the femoral shaft was analyzed to assess ossified BMBV in the marrow space. Care was taken so that trabecular and cortical bone was not included in the analysis. Thus, the analysis began where trabecular bone disappeared at the end of the secondary spongiosa in the proximal metaphysis and continued just prior to the beginning of the secondary spongiosa at the distal metaphysis. The following
parameters were calculated: ossified vessel volume (OsVV, %) and ossified vessel thickness (OsV.Th, μ m).

3.3.3 Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA with SPSS statistical software (version 24; IBM, Armonk, NY) to determine significant main effects (i.e. age and treatment) and interactions for the following: trabecular bone microarchitecture, and cortical bone and ossified BMBV parameters. One-way ANOVA was used to examine differences in body mass. Student-Newman-Keuls (SNK) post-hoc tests were performed to assess group differences. The significance level was set at $p \le 0.05$. Tendencies for significant differences ($p \le 0.10$) are reported. Data were expressed as a mean \pm standard error (M \pm SE).

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Mouse Characteristics

Body mass did not differ among groups (Mature CON, $31\pm 2g$; Mature 5dPTH, $32\pm 2g$; Mature 10dPTH, $30\pm 1g$; Middle-Aged CON, $30\pm 1g$; Middle-Aged 5dPTH, $31\pm 1g$; and Middle-Aged 10dPTH, $31\pm 1g$). Since no gender-related differences were observed at this sample size, female and male data were pooled and analyzed according to group.

3.4.2 Effects of Age and Intermittent PTH Administration on Trabecular and Cortical Bone Parameters

There were no main effects for age or treatment nor any significant interactions observed for the trabecular and cortical bone parameters. As anticipated, trabecular bone microarchitecture (i.e., BV/TV, Tb.N, Tb.Th, Tb.Sp) and cortical bone parameters (Ct.BV/TV and Ct.Th) did not differ with PTH treatment (Table 3.1). Figure 3.1 illustrates representative 3D reconstructions of trabecular bone microarchitecture in the secondary spongiosa of the distal femoral metaphysis and the cortical shell at the femoral mid-shaft.

Trabecular Bone								
	Mature CON	Mature 5dPTH	Mature 10dPTH	Middle- Aged CON	Middle- Aged 5dPTH	Middle- Aged 10dPTH		
BV/TV (%)	2.2±1.1	2.5±1.0	2.2±0.8	2.3±0.9	3.7±1.2	4.0±1.0		
Tb.Th (µm)	27.2±3.3	26.1±2.3	26.4±1.8	28.2±2.0	26.8±3.6	29.4±2.1		
Tb.N /mm ²	0.7±0.3	0.9±0.3	0.7±0.2	0.7±0.2	1.1±0.3	1.2±0.3		
Tb.Sp (μm)	22227.4± 12679.5	4225.5 ± 1850.6	4923.0± 2593.1	3987.4 ± 1482.4	22649.9± 16864.9	5810.4± 4636.8		

Table	3.1 .	Trabecular	and	cortical	bone	parameters	following	short-term	
intermittent PTH 1-34 administration in Mature and Middle-Aged mice.									

Cortical Bone

	Mature CON	Mature 5dPTH	Mature 10dPTH	Middle- Aged CON	Middle- Aged 5dPTH	Middle- Aged 10dPTH
Ct.BV/TV (%)	30.0±0.8	29.2±1.2	32.0±0.8	28.8±0.7	26.5±3.1	29.6±1.1
Ct.Th (µm)	172.0±5.4	174.7±7.5	181.8±5.4	174.3±6.0	163.1±18.9	179.6±3.9

Values are mean \pm SE.



Figure 3.1. Representative images of (A) trabecular bone microarchitecture and (B) cortical thickness in Mature and Middle-Aged CON, 5dPTH, and 10dPTH

mice.

3.4.3 Effects of Age and Intermittent PTH Administration on Bone Marrow Blood Vessel Ossification

As hypothesized, ossified BMBV were present in both Mature and Middle-Aged C57BL/6 mice. Figure 3.2 depicts representative images of ossified bone marrow blood vessels for each group. No significant interactions were observed for the ossified vessel parameters (i.e., OsVV and OsV.Th); however, some main effects for age were found. OsVV tended (p=0.057) to increase with advancing age (Figure 3.3A). Further, ossified vessels were 44% thicker (p<0.05) in Middle-Aged vs. Mature mice (Figure 3.3B). Additionally, there were no significant differences in OsVV according to treatment (Figure 3.3C). However, ossified vessels tended (p=0.08) to be 41% thicker following 10 days of intermittent PTH administration (Figure 3.3D).

Mature CON	Mature 5dPTH	Mature 10dPTH	Middle - Aged CON	Middle - Aged 5dPTH	Middle- Aged 10dPTH
1 mm	1 mm	<u>l mm</u>	<u>1 mm</u>	⊢ 1 mm →	<u> 1 mm</u> ,
0					•
			Q. A. A.	a la	

Figure 3.2. Representative images of bone marrow blood vessel (BMBV) ossification in mature and middle-aged CON, 5dPTH, and 10dPTH mice. These images demonstrate the presence of the BMBV ossification in both Mature and Middle-Aged female and male C57BL/6 mice, regardless of the treatment.



Figure 3.3. Main effects of age (panels A & B) and intermittent PTH administration (panels C & D) on ossified bone marrow blood vessel (BMBV) parameters (i.e., OsVV, and OsV.Th). (A) OsVV tended (p=0.057) to be higher in Middle-Aged vs. Mature mice. (B) OsV.Th was higher (*p*>0.05) in Middle-Aged mice vs. Mature mice. (C) OsVV was not altered with short-term (5- and 10-days) PTH 1-34 administration. (D) OsV.Th tended (p=0.08) to be higher in 10dPTH

vs. CON. Values are means \pm S.E. ^adenotes significant difference vs. Mature (p<0.05), ^bdenotes a tendency for difference vs. Mature (p=0.057), ^cdenotes a tendency for difference vs. CON (p=0.08).

3.5 Discussion

This investigation verified that ossified BMBV are present in Mature and Middleaged female and male C57BL/6 mice (Figure 3.2), confirming that various species (i.e., mice, rats, and humans) develop this vascular pathology (current data and [21]). In addition, ossified BMBV were thicker in Middle-Aged vs. Mature animals (Figure 3.3), indicating continued bone formation and accrual on these blood vessels as a function of advancing age. To our knowledge, these are the first data to report the presence of ossified BMBV in C57BL/6 mice.

These data confirm our previous reports of progressive ossification as a function of advancing age in rats [21]. Ossification of the bone vasculature, characterized by osteocyte lacunae and osteoid seams, presumably serves to enhance "microvascular dead space" [21]. "Microvascular dead space" indicates that ossified BMBV have reduced patency, are incapable of normal vasomotor activities (i.e., vasodilation and/or vasoconstriction), and thus are deficient in the regulation of bone blood flow [21]. Further, ossified BMBV were observed in amputated long bones from elderly individuals [21], highlighting the prevalence of this disease in humans. Even though not statistically significant (p=0.057), OsVV

doubled in a matter of months (i.e., from maturity to middle-age) and ossified vessels became thicker (p<0.05) during this time frame. Both of these findings support previous claims of progressive ossification related to the aging process [21]. Of note are the alterations in vascular parameters that proceeded the changes in bone.

Trabecular and cortical bone parameters did not differ between the Mature and Middle-Aged groups; however, ossified vessels were thicker in the older mice. Skeletal maturity in mice occurs between 4-6 months of age [38, 39]. Following skeletal maturity, age-related declines in bone mass occur, but the rate of decline is species and strain specific [40]. The lack of a 4-6 month age group in the current investigation precludes determination as to whether trabecular and cortical bone was already reduced by 6-8 months of age. However, during the period between 6-12 months, the lack of change in trabecular and cortical bone parameters coincided with increased mineralization on the bone vascular network.

Coupled with BMBV ossification, other vascular pathologies occur with advancing age that may have a tremendous impact on bone and bone marrow. For example, declines in trabecular bone volume and endothelium-dependent vasodilation of the femoral PNA were observed at 22-24 months vs. 4-6 months in male Fischer-344 rats [14, 16, 19]. In addition, the loss of bone vascularity has been reported [21, 41], which may coincide with diminishment of a capillary subtype theorized to regulate angiogenesis [42]. For example, bone blood vessel rarefaction occurred between 4 and 7 months of age in 129sv/CD1 mice, coinciding with reduced trabecular bone volume [40]. However, no changes in vascular density were observed in the C57BL/6 mice [40], highlighting potential strain-specific alterations. Bone vascular rarefaction with advancing age has also been reported in humans, whereby the number of arterial capillaries (per 100 mm² of tissue) declined from 10-20 to 30-50 years and the number of sinusoids (per 100 mm² of tissue) declined from 10-20 to 30-50 and again at >70 years [20]. Since PTH influences the cardiovascular system, several authors have speculated beneficial alterations in the bone vascular network following its administration [17, 22, 33, 35, 36]. Thus, such therapies may serve to reverse the aforementioned age-related declines in the bone vascular network.

Both acute and intermittent PTH administration influences bone blood vessels. For example, vasodilation to cumulative doses of various PTH analogs (i.e., PTH 1-84, PTH 1-34 and PTHrP 1-34) was observed in the femoral PNA [17, 32], with vasodilation being most robust to PTHrP 1-34 [32]. Further, single applications of PTH transiently augmented skeletal blood flow and perfusion [36, 43]. When administered intermittently over several weeks or months, PTH augmented skeletal perfusion in mice and humans [33, 44]. Further, PTH 1-84 relocated the smallest BMBV closer to bone forming sites [35]. This spatial relocation presumably aided in directing blood flow to areas of bone undergoing remodeling and maximized nutrient exchange [35]. Additionally, 14 days of

intermittent PTH 1-84 administration augmented bone vascular density profiles in hind limb long bones of mice [33]; however, bone vascular density was lower in PTH-treated rats following 15 and 30 days of treatment [35]. Lastly, intermittent administration of PTH 1-84 and PTH 1-34 improved endothelium-dependent vasodilation in PNAs from young and old rats, respectively [17, 22] and enhanced the marrow microenvironment in old (22-24 mon) rats [22]. Overall, these studies highlight beneficial modifications of the bone vascular network with acute application or intermittent PTH administration for 14-30 days.

While the beneficial effects of PTH have been well documented in terms of enhancing the vasomotor properties of bone blood vessels and increasing bone vascular density and skeletal perfusion under certain circumstances, the potential negative effects presented herein deserve further attention. The questions to be addressed in future experiments are whether the beneficial effects of intermittent PTH administration on bone outweigh the potential long-term, negative consequences on bone blood vessels. Intermittent PTH administration is bone anabolic [17, 35, 45-47]; however, clinically-speaking, the treatment is of a limited duration (i.e., ≤ 2 years) [48]. Thus, once treatment is arrested, what long-term consequences remain for the bone vascular system? In this investigation, intermittent PTH 1-34 administration tended to increase OsV.Th (Figure 3) in as short as 10 days; i.e., at a time point when trabecular and cortical bone were unaltered. This finding may prove particularly concerning for individuals who are prescribed and for physicians prescribing PTH treatment for low bone mass, as it is suggestive of an unfavorable consequence with longer durations of treatment.

The long-term consequences of intermittent PTH administration on the volume of ossified vasculature may depend upon the initial volume of the ossified vasculature at the onset of treatment. Unfortunately, the initiation of intermittent PTH administration in human subjects often occurs in states of advanced age, potentially coinciding with an already augmented "microvascular dead space" [21]. Coupled with BMBV ossification, age-related declines in skeletal blood flow [12, 14, 16, 49, 50], bone vascular rarefaction [20, 21], and reduced vasodilator capacity of the femoral PNA [14, 16, 19, 51] have already been documented. The improvements reported in bone blood vessel density [33], skeletal perfusion [33, 34] and vasodilator function [17, 22] with intermittent PTH administration may serve to initially offset any negative consequences of enhanced "microvascular dead space" in bone. However, it is possible that augmented ossification of BMBV with PTH treatment would eventually exacerbate vasomotor decline, reduce bone blood vessel patency, diminish skeletal blood flow, and ultimately obstruct bone accrual once intermittent PTH administration has been medically arrested.

Unsurprisingly, intermittent PTH 1-34 administration did not alter trabecular and cortical bone parameters in Mature and Middle-Aged mice. This finding no doubt reflects the short administration period (i.e., 5 and 10 days). This timeframe was chosen to examine the prompt effects of PTH administration on the bone vascular network. Unfortunately, the osteogenic effects of PTH on ossified BMBV occurred more rapidly than the osteogenic effects on bone, suggesting a greater sensitivity of bone blood vessels to PTH.

In contrast, longer durations of intermittent PTH administration coincides with trabecular and cortical bone accrual [33, 52, 53]. For example, intermittent PTH administration for 14 to 28 days augmented cortical and trabecular bone in the tibiae and femora of C57BL/6 mice [33, 52, 53]. On the contrary, 4 weeks of intermittent PTH treatment in 10-12-week-old BALB/c mice increased cortical bone volume but had no effect on trabecular bone volume in the distal femur and L5 vertebra [36]. Thus, the anabolic actions of intermittent PTH are wide-ranging and have been suspected to vary according to the strain of the animal [36, 54].

Similarly, the varying effects of intermittent PTH administration are observed in human patients as well. Overall, intermittent PTH administration is an effective treatment for osteoporosis; however, skeletal responses to PTH can be divergent from individual to individual [55]. A longitudinal study using highresolution peripheral quantitative computed tomography (HR-pQCT) documented divergent effects of PTH 1-34 and PTH 1-84 in postmenopausal osteoporotic patients [56]. In this investigation, PTH 1-34 augmented cortical porosity so that cortical density was reduced in the radius and tibia following treatment, whereas PTH 1-84 was associated with weakened bone strength [56]. In addition, one cohort study using QCT demonstrated that 1 year of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration augmented spinal volumetric BMD 60% above baseline in 20% of the study participants, while one-fifth of participants experienced no change or reduced BMD [57]. The reasons for such a large and divergent response to PTH treatment were not fully understood.

The divergent skeletal responses may be partially attributable to the volume of ossification in the patients at the initiation of treatment. In other words, the lack of bone anabolism or decline in bone parameters observed in some individuals with intermittent PTH administration may be etiologically vascular in origin. We have demonstrated progressive BMBV ossification as a function of advancing age in rats [21] and currently demonstrated the potential for enhanced BMBV ossification in mice with PTH treatment. Under these circumstances, the expansion of "microvascular dead space" in bone would serve to further impair vascular function and limit nutrient and factor delivery via blood flow if declines in vessel patency outstrip bone angiogenesis [33] and the improved vasodilator capacity of "normal" bone blood vessels [17, 22].

In conclusion, this is the first study to report the presence of ossified vessels in C57BL/6 mice. Further, current and previous [21] results demonstrate that BMBV ossification is a pathology observed in rodent and human long bones. Additionally, 10 days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration tended to increase the thickness of ossified BMBV, potentially exacerbating the pathology. Even though PTH is a treatment for osteoporosis, it may eventually impact the patency of BMBV by augmenting ossification and increasing the "microvascular dead space" in bone. While effective at bone anabolism, the long-term (i.e., following the arrest of treatment) consequences of intermittent PTH administration on the patency of BMBV may eventually outweigh the benefits on bone.

3.6 Conflicts of Interest

Seungyong Lee and Rhonda D. Prisby declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

3.7 Acknowledgements

This study was supported by grants from the University of Delaware Research Foundation Strategic Initiative Grant.

3.8 References

- Brookes, M., Revell WJ., Blood Supply of Bone: Scientific Aspects. 1998, London, Great Britain: Springer-Verlag.
- McCarthy, I., The physiology of bone blood flow: a review. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 2006. 88(Suppl 3): p. 4-9.
- Sparks, D., DB Saleh, WM Rozen, DW Hutmacher, MA Schuetz, M Wagels, Vascularised bone transfer: History, blood supply and contemporary problems. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg, 2017. 70(1): p. 1-11.

- Goldsby, R.A., Kindt TJ, Osborne BA, Immunology. 4th ed. 2000, New York: W.H. Freeman and Company. 670.
- Eghbali-Fatourechi, G.Z., Lamsam J, Fraser D, Nagel D, Riggs BL, Khosla
 S., Circulating osteoblast-lineage cells in humans. N Engl J Med, 2005.
 352(19): p. 1959-66.
- Fujikawa, Y., JM Quinn, A Sabokbar, JO McGee, NA Athanasou, The human osteoclast precursor circulates in the monocyte fraction. Endocrinology, 1996. 137(9): p. 4058-60.
- Jilka, R.L., Biology of the basic multicellular unit and the pathophysiology of osteoporosis. Med Pediatr Oncol, 2003. 41(3): p. 182-5.
- Parfitt, A., The mechanism of coupling: A role for the vasculature. Bone, 2000. 26: p. 319-323.
- Sims, N., TJ Martin, Coupling the activities of bone formation and resorption: a multitude of signals within the basic multicellular unit. Bonekey Rep, 2014.
 3(481): p. doi: 10.1038/bonekey.2013.215. eCollection 2014 Jan 8.
- Sacchetti B, F.A., Michienzi S, Di Cesare S, Piersanti S, Saggio I, Tagliafico E, Ferrari S, Robey PG, Riminucci M, Bianco P., Self-renewing osteoprogenitors in bone marrow sinusoids can organize a hematopoietic microenvironment. Cell, 2007. 131(2): p. 324-36.

- Kiel, M., OH Yilmaz, T Iwashita, OH Yilmaz, C Terhorst, SJ Morrison, SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell, 2005. 121(7): p. 1109-21.
- Bloomfield, S., Hogan HA, Delp MD., Decreases in bone blood flow and bone material properties in aging Fischer-344 rats. Clin Orthop Related Res, 2002. 396: p. 248-257.
- Colleran, P.N., Wilkerson MK, Bloomfield SA, Suva LJ, Turner RT, Delp MD., Alterations in skeletal perfusion with simulated microgravity: A possible mechanism for bone remodeling. J Appl Physiol, 2000. 89: p. 1046-1054.
- 14. Dominguez, J.M., Prisby RD, Muller-Delp JM, Allen MR, Delp MD, Increased nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation of bone resistance arteries is associated with increased trabecular bone volume after endurance training in rats. Bone, 2010. 46(3): p. 813-19.
- 15. Griffith, J.F., Yeung DKW, Antonia GE, Lee FKH, Hong AWL, Wong SYS, Lau EMC, Leung PC., Vertebral bone mineral density, marrow perfusion, and fat content in healthy men and men with osteoporosis: dynamic contrastenhanced MR imaging and MR Spectroscopy. Radiology, 2005. 236(3): p. 945-951.
- Prisby, R.D., Ramsey MW, Behnke BJ, Dominguez JM, Donato AJ, Allen MR, Delp MD, Aging reduces skeletal blood flow, endothelium-dependent

vasodilation and nitric oxide bioavailability in rats. J. Bone Miner Res, 2007. 22: p. 1280-1288.

- Prisby, R., Menezes T, Campbell J., Vasodilation to PTH (1-84) in bone arteries is dependent upon the vascular endothelium and is mediated partially via VEGF signaling. Bone, 2013. 54(1): p. 68-75.
- Griffith, J.F., Yeung DK, Tsang PH, Choi KC, Kwok TC, Ahuja AT, Leung KS, Leung PC., Compromised bone marrow perfusion in osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res., 2008. 23(7): p. 1068-75.
- 19. Prisby, R.D., J. Muller-Delp, M.D. Delp, T.R. Nurkiewicz, Age, gender and hormonal status modulate the vascular toxicity of the diesel exhaust extract phenanthraquinone. J Toxicol Environ Health A, 2008. 71(7): p. 464-70.
- 20. Burkhardt, R., Kettner G, Bohm W, Schmidmeier M, Schlag R, Frisch B, Mallmann B, Eisenmenger W, Gilg T, Changes in trabecular bone, hematopoiesis and bone-marrow vessels in aplastic-anemia, primary osteoporosis, and old-age: a comparative histomorphometric study. Bone, 1987. 8: p. 157-164.
- 21. Prisby, R., Bone marrow blood vessel ossification and "microvascular dead space" in rat and human long bone. Bone, 2014. 64: p. 195-203.
- 22. Lee, S., A Bice, B Hood, J Ruiz, J Kim, RD Prisby, Intermittent PTH 1-34 administration improves the marrow microenvironment and endothelium-

dependent vasodilation in bone arteries of aged rats. J Appl Physiol, 2018: p. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00847.2017. [Epub ahead of print].

- Prisby, R., Mechanical, hormonal and metabolic influences on blood vessels, blood flow and bone. J Endocrinol, 2017. 235(3): p. R77-R100.
- Esbrit, P., MV Alvarez-Arroyo, F De Miguel, O Martin, ME Martinez, C Caramelo, C-terminal parathyroid hormone-related protein increases vascular endothelial growth factor in human osteoblastic cells. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2000. 11(6): p. 1085-92.
- Henriksen, K., Neutzsky-Wulff AV, Bonewald LF, Karsdal MA, Local communication on and within bone controls bone remodeling. Bone, 2009. 44(6): p. 1026-33.
- 26. Nishida, S., A Yamaguchi, T Tanizawa, N Endo, T Mashiba, Y Uchiyama, T Suda, S Yoshiki, HE Takahashi, Increased bone formation by intermittent parathyroid hormone administration is due to the stimulation of proliferation and differentiation of osteoprogenitor cells in bone marrow. Bone, 1994. 15(6): p. 717-23.
- Dobnig, H., RT Turner, Evidence that intermittent treatment with parathyroid hormone increases bone formation in adult rats by activation of bone lining cells. Endocrinology, 1995. 136(8): p. 3632-38.

- Jilka, R., RS Weinstein, T Bellido, P Roberson, AM Parfitt, SC Manolagas, Increased bone formation by prevention of osteoblast apoptosis with parathyroid hormone. J Clin Invest, 1999. 104(4): p. 439-46.
- Pang, P., MC Yang, R Shew, TE Tenner Jr., The vasorelaxant action of parathyroid hormone fragments on isolated rat tail artery. Blood Vessels, 1985. 22(2): p. 57-64.
- Pang, P., Janssen HF, Yee JA., Effects of synthetic parathyroid hormone on vascular beds of dogs. Pharmacology, 1980. 21(3): p. 213-22.
- Nickols, G., Metz MA, Cline WH Jr., Vasodilation of the rat mesenteric vasculature by parathyroid hormone. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 1986. 236(2): p. 419-23.
- 32. Benson, T., T Menezes, J Campbell, A Bice, B Hood, R Prisby, Mechanisms of vasodilation to PTH 1-84, PTH 1-34, and PTHrP 1-34 in rat bone resistance arteries. Osteoporos Int, 2016. 27(5): p. 1817-26.
- 33. Roche, B., A Vanden-Bossche, L Malaval, M Normand, M Jannot, R Chaux, L Vico, MH Lafage-Proust, Parathyroid hormone 1-84 targets bone vascular structure and perfusion in mice: impacts of its administration regimen and of ovariectomy. J Bone Miner Res, 2014. 29(7): p. 1608-18.
- Moore, A., GM Blake, KA Taylor, VA Ruff, AE Rana, X Wan, I Fogelman, Changes observed in radionuclide bone scans during and after teriparatide

treatment for osteoporosis. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging, 2012. 39(2): p. 326-36.

- 35. Prisby, R., Guignandon A, Vanden-Bossche A, Mac-Way F, Linossier MT, Thomas M, Laroche N, Malaval L, Langer M, Peter ZA, Peyrin F, Vico L, Lafage-Proust MH, Intermittent PTH(1-84) is osteoanabolic but not osteoangiogenic and relocates bone marrow blood vessels closer to boneforming sites. J Bone Miner Res, 2011. 26(11): p. 2583-96.
- 36. Gohin, S., A Carriero, C Chenu, AA Pitsillides, TR Arnett, M Marenzana, The anabolic action of intermittent parathyroid hormone on cortical bone depends partly on its ability to induce nitric oxide-mediated vasorelaxation in BALB/c mice. Cell Biochem Funct, 2016. 34(2): p. 52-62.
- Verhaar, H.J.J. and W.F. Lems, PTH-analogs: Comparable or different? Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 2009. 49(2): p. e130-e132.
- 38. Buie, H., CP Moore, SK Boyd, Postpubertal architectural developmental patterns differ between the L3 vertebra and proximal tibia in three inbred strains of mice. J Bone Miner Res, 2008. 23(12): p. 2048-59.
- Glatt, V., E Canalis, L Stadmeyer, ML Bouxsein, Age-related changes in trabecular architecture differ in female and male C57BL/6J mice. J Bone Miner Res, 2007. 22(8): p. 1197-207.
- 40. Roche, B., Vanden-Bossche A, Normand M, Malaval L, Vico L, Lafage-Proust MH., Validated Laser Doppler protocol for measurement of mouse

bone blood perfusion - response to age or ovariectomy differs with genetic background. Bone, 2013 55(2): p. 418-26.

- 41. Viboolvorakul, S., H Niimi, N Wongeak-in, S Eksakulkla, S Patumraj, Increased capillary vascularity in the femur of aged rats by exercise training. Microvasc Res, 2009. 78(3): p. 459-63.
- 42. Kusumbe A, S.R., RH Adams, Coupling of angiogenesis and osteogenesis by a specific vessel subtype in bone. Nature, 2014. 507: p. 323–328.
- 43. Kapitola, J., Zák J., Effect of parathormone on bone blood flow in rats-possible role of NO. Sb Lek, 2003. 104(2): p. 133-7.
- 44. Moore, A., GM Blake, KA Taylor, AE Rana, M Wong, P Chen, I Fogelman, Assessment of regional changes in skeletal metabolism following 3 and 18 months of teriparatide treatment. J Bone Miner Res, 2010. 25(5): p. 960-67.
- 45. Greenspan, S., HG Bone, MP Ettinger, DA Hanley, R Lindsay, JR Zanchetta, CM Blosch, AL Mathisen, SA Morris, TB Marriott; Treatment of Osteoporosis with Parathyroid Hormone Study Group, Effect of recombinant human parathyroid hormone (1-84) on vertebral fracture and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med, 2007. 146(5): p. 326-39.
- 46. Kamo, K., N Miyakoshi, Y Kasukawa, K Nozaka, H Sasaki, Y Shimada, Intermittent weekly administration of human parathyroid hormone (1-34)

improves bone-hydroxyapatite block bonding in ovariectomized rats. J Bone Miner Metab, 2010. 28(6): p. 634-40.

- 47. Lane, N., JM Thompson, GJ Strewler, JH Kinney, Intermittent treatment with human parathyroid hormone (hPTH[1-34]) increased trabecular bone volume but not connectivity in osteopenic rats. J Bone Miner Res, 1995. 10(10): p. 1470-77.
- Augustine, M., MJ Horwitz, Parathyroid hormone and parathyroid hormonerelated protein analogs as therapies for osteoporosis. Curr Osteoporos Rep, 2013. 11(4): p. 400-6.
- 49. Hruza, Z., M Wachtlova, Diminution of bone blood flow and capillary network in rats during aging. J Gerontol, 1969. 24(3): p. 315-20.
- Ramasamy, S., AP Kusumbe, M Schiller, D Zeuschner, MG Bixel, C Milia, J Gamrekelashvili, A Limbourg, A Medvinsky, MM Santoro, FP Limbourg, RH Adams, Blood flow controls bone vascular function and osteogenesis. Nat Commun, 2016. 7(13601): p. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13601.
- Prisby, R.D., Dominguez JM 2nd, Muller-Delp J, Allen MR, Delp MD., Aging and estrogen status: a possible endothelium-dependent vascular coupling mechanism in bone remodeling. PLoS One, 2012. 7(11): p. e48564. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048564.
- 52. Iida-Klein, A., H Zhou, SS Lu, LR Levine, M Ducayen-Knowles, DW Dempster, J Nieves, R Lindsay, Anabolic action of parathyroid hormone is

skeletal site specific at the tissue and cellular levels in mice. J Bone Miner Res, 2002. 17(5): p. 808-16.

- 53. Sugiyama, T., LK Saxon, G Zaman, A Moustafa, A Sunters, JS Price, LE Lanyon, Mechanical loading enhances the anabolic effects of intermittent parathyroid hormone (1-34) on trabecular and cortical bone in mice. Bone, 2008. 43(2): p. 238-48.
- Iwaniec, U., TJ Wronski, J Liu, MF Rivera, RR Arzaga, G Hansen, R Brommage, PTH Stimulates Bone Formation in Mice Deficient in Lrp5. JBMR, 2007. 22(3): p. 394-402.
- 55. Rosen, C., What's new with PTH in osteoporosis: where are we and where are we headed? Trends Endocrinol Metab, 2004. 15(5): p. 229-33.
- 56. Hansen, S., EM Hauge, JE Beck Jensen, K Brixen, Differing effects of PTH 1-34, PTH 1-84, and zoledronic acid on bone microarchitecture and estimated strength in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: an 18-month openlabeled observational study using HR-pQCT. J Bone Miner Res, 2013. 28(4): p. 736-45.
- 57. Black, D., SL Greenspan, KE Ensrud, L Palermo, JA McGowan, TF Lang, P Garnero, ML Bouxsein, JP Bilezikian, CJ Rosen; PaTH Study Investigators, The effects of parathyroid hormone and alendronate alone or in combination in postmenopausal osteoporosis. N Engl J Med, 2003. 349(13): p. 1207-15.

Chapter 4

Short-Term Intermittent PTH 1-34 Administration Stimulates Angiogenesis and Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 Secretion in Femora of Mature and Middle-Aged C57BL/6 Mice

Seungyong Lee and Rhonda Prisby

Department of Kinesiology, University of Texas at Arlington, Arlington, TX

Submitted to Bone: July 2018

4.1 Abstract

INTRODUCTION: Intermittent parathyroid hormone (PTH) administration increases bone volume and matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9 secretion. In addition, intermittent PTH alters bone blood vessels by increasing vasodilator capacity, augmenting bone perfusion, and relocating bone marrow blood vessels closer to osteoid seams. Discrepancies exist, however, as to whether intermittent PTH elicits angiogenesis. Since MMP-9 participates in cellular homing and migrating, I theorized that it aides in relocating bone marrow blood vessels. This study examined the influence of short-term (i.e., 5- and 10-days) intermittent PTH on angiogenesis, MMP-9 secretion, and the distance between blood vessels and bone in mature (6-8mon; n=30) and middle-aged (10-12mon; n=30) male and female C57BL/6 mice.

METHODS: Mice were divided accordingly: control (CON), 5-days intermittent PTH (5dPTH) and 10-days intermittent PTH (10dPTH). Mice were given a placebo (i.e., PBS; 50 μ l/d) or PTH 1-34 (43 μ g/kg/d). Right femora were collected and prepared for histology. Frontal sections (5 μ m) were triple-immunolabeled to identify endothelial cells (i.e., anti-CD31), vascular smooth muscle cells (i.e., anti- α SMA), and MMP-9 (i.e., anti-MMP9). Sections of the distal femoral metaphysis were imaged to determine vascular density, MMP-9 density, area and localization, and blood vessel distance to bone. Blood vessels were analyzed according to diameter: 1-29 μ m, 30-100 μ m and 101-200 μ m. Trabecular bone microarchitecture (i.e., BV/TV [%], Tb.Th [μ m], Tb.N [/mm²], and Tb.Sp [μ m]) and bone static (i.e., OS/BS, %, Ob.S/BS, % and Oc.S/BS, %) and dynamic (MAR, μ m/day; sLS/BS, %; dLS/BS, %; MS/BS, % and BFR, μ m³/ μ m²/day) properties were examined.

RESULTS: Gender-related differences were not observed with this sample size, so female and male data were pooled. The density of 1-29µm and 30-100µm CD31labeled blood vessels was significantly (p<0.05) higher and tended (p=0.055) to be higher, respectively, in 10dPTH vs. 5dPTH and CON. Further, 30-100µm and 101-200µm α SMA-labeled blood vessels tended (p<0.10) to be higher in 10dPTH vs. 5dPTH. MMP-9 was augmented (p<0.05) in 10dPTH vs. the other groups and MMP-9 was closer (p<0.05) to 1-29µm blood vessels and furthest (p<0.05) from trabecular bone. No differences were observed in distances between blood vessels and bone, bone microarchitecture, and bone static and dynamic properties.

CONCLUSION: In conclusion, bone angiogenesis occurs by 10 days of iPTH (i.e., quicker than changes in trabecular bone), coinciding with augmented MMP-9 secretion closer to the smallest $(1-29\mu m)$ blood vessels.

4.2 Introduction

Intermittent parathyroid hormone (PTH) administration is a well-known osteoanabolic agent used to treat osteoporosis [1, 2] since it plays an essential regulatory role in bone remodeling [1]. In addition, evidence in the literature demonstrates positive effects of intermittent PTH administration on the bone vascular system [3-7]. For example, bolus doses of PTH rapidly enhanced bone blood flow and bone perfusion [7, 8]. *In vitro* vasodilation of the femoral principal nutrient artery (PNA; the major conduit for blood flow to long bones [9]) was augmented in young Wistar rats with cumulative doses of PTH 1-34, PTH 1-84,

and parathyroid hormone-related peptide (PTHrP) 1-34 [4]. Chronic administration of PTH also elicits vascular alterations. Two weeks of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration increased the vasodilator capacity of femoral PNAs in young (3-5 months) Wistar rats, which coincided with augmented bone volume [5]. Similarly, age-related declines in vasodilator capacity and bone volume in old (22-24 months) Fischer-344 rats were partially restored to values similar to young (4-6 months) rats following 2 weeks of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration [10].

In addition to bone perfusion and vasodilator capacity, angiogenesis can also be impacted by intermittent PTH administration. For example, vascular density in the tibial metaphysis was augmented following 14 days of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration in mice, coinciding with increased trabecular thickness and bone formation rate, but not bone volume [6]. In contrast, bone vascular density was lower in young PTH-treated (15- and 30-days) vs. control Wistar rats [3]. Discrepancies in these data may relate to the different species examined (i.e., mouse vs. rat). Since intermittent PTH administration is often prescribed to elderly individuals, it may also serve to enhance bone angiogenesis and vascular density in this population. For example, bone marrow capillaries and sinusoids were reduced as a function of advancing age in humans [11] and, following fracture healing, blood vessel numbers in the tibial mid-shaft were reduced in 18-month vs.1-monthold mice [12]. Thus, the influence of intermittent PTH administration on bone angiogenesis as a function of advancing age remains to be ascertained. Alterations in bone angiogenesis following intermittent PTH administration may relate to the upregulation of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9 [13, 14], which is proangiogenic [15]. For example, 5 days of intermittent PTH administration increased the expression of MMP-9 by osteoblasts and osteocytes in the primary spongiosa of the tibial metaphysis of young rats [15]. Further, since extracellular matrix (ECM) remodeling is crucial for vascular outgrowth, MMP-9mediated ECM remodeling is closely associated with angiogenesis and neovascularization [14]. In addition, MMP-9 regulates endothelial progenitor cell (EPC) number, activity, and migration to regions of angiogenesis [13].

While demonstrated to increase MMP-9 secretion by bone cells [15], intermittent PTH administration failed to augment blood vessel number in young male Wistar rats [3], leading one to speculate that MMP-9 may have additional functions. For example, MMP-9 plays a role in the migration of various cell types (i.e., osteoclasts [16, 17], endothelial cells [17], and vascular smooth muscle cells [18]). Due to its role in cellular migration and homing [19, 20], and its upregulation following intermittent PTH administration, it may also participate in the spatial relocation of bone marrow blood vessels. For example, 15- and 30-days of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration relocated bone marrow blood vessels closer to bone forming sites [3]. Unfortunately, MMP-9 secretion was not analyzed in this study [3]; however, it is plausible that MMP-9 contributed to this response. Given the duality of its known functions (i.e., angiogenesis and cellular migration and

homing), further clarification on the role of MMP-9 with intermittent PTH administration is warranted. Therefore, I sought to determine the effects of shortterm (5- and 10-days) intermittent PTH 1-34 administration on bone marrow blood vessel density, MMP-9 density, area and localization, the distance between bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone surfaces, trabecular bone microarchitecture, and bone static and dynamic properties in Mature and Middle-Aged mice. Since previous investigations reported rapid bone vascular responses in comparison to bone [6, 7, 21], short-term (5- and 10-days) intermittent PTH 1-34 administration should allow for examination of bone vascular alterations absent the alterations in bone. Based upon previous data demonstrating lower blood vessel number in bone with advanced age [11, 12] and following intermittent PTH administration [3], I hypothesize that Middle-Aged mice will have a lower number of bone marrow blood vessels vs. Mature mice and intermittent PTH 1-34 administration will have no effect on bone vascular density. Since PTH stimulates MMP-9 secretion [15], I hypothesize that MMP-9 in the distal femoral metaphysis will be higher with PTH treatment. Finally, given the role of MMP-9 in cellular migration and homing [16-19], it may play a similar role in the spatial relocalization of bone marrow blood vessels closer to bone. Thus, I anticipate that MMP-9 will be localized closer to trabecular bone vs. the bone marrow blood vessels following PTH treatment.

4.3 Materials and Methods

The experiment was carried out in accordance with the protocols approved by University of Delaware and the University of Texas at Arlington Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees and conform to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the National Institutes of Health (NIH Publication No. 85-23, revised 1996). Mature (6-8 month-old) and Middle-Aged (10-12 month-old) female and male C57BL/6 mice were housed in standard cages in a temperature- (23±2 °C) and light-controlled (12h/12h light/dark) room. Tap water and regular mouse chow were provided ad libitum.

4.3.1 Intermittent Parathyroid Hormone Administration and Sample Preparation

According to body mass, 60 mature and middle-aged mice were divided into the following six groups: 1) Mature control (Mature CON; n=10), 2) Mature with five days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration (Mature 5dPTH; n=10), 3) Mature with ten days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration (Mature 10dPTH; n=10), 4) Middle-Aged CON (Middle-Aged CON; n=10), 5) Middle-Aged with five days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration (Middle-Aged 5dPTH; n=10), and 6) Middle-Aged with ten days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration (Middle-Aged 10dPTH; n=10). Each group had an equal distribution of female and male mice. For the PTH treated groups, mice received either 43 μ g/kg/day of PTH 1-34 or a vehicle (i.e., phosphate buffered saline; 50 µl/day) subcutaneously for five and ten consecutive days. A dose of 43 µg/kg/day of PTH 1-34 is molecularly equivalent to 100 µg/kg/day of PTH 1-84 [22]. Injection of either PTH or the vehicle was performed at the same time daily. Following the completion of the protocol, all mice were anesthetized by inhalation of isoflurane (2.5% to O₂ balance) and were sacrificed via cardiectomy. Right femora were collected, cleaned of soft tissue, fixed overnight in 4% paraformaldehyde at 4°C, and decalcified with a Cal-ExTM (Fisher Scientific, Hampton, NH, United State). The decalcification solution was changed every 2-3 days and a decalcification end-point indicator was used to ensure that femora were appropriately decalcified. Femora were subsequently processed for paraffin embedding and frontal sections of the distal femoral metaphysis were cut with a microtome (Leica RM2255, Leica Microsystems, Buffalo Grove, Illinois, United State).

4.3.2 *Immunolabeling*

Endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle cells, and MMP-9 were identified by triple-immunolabeling. Briefly, bone sections were deparaffinized and antigen retrieval was accomplished with 10 mM Citrate Buffer (pH 6.0) and a heat-induced antigen retriever (2100 Retriever, Aptum Biologics Ltd., Southampton, United Kingdom). Subsequently, the sections were incubated with the IgG blocking solution (M.O.M mouse IgG blocking reagent, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, United States) and protein blocking solution (M.O.M Diluent Protein blocker, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, United State) to block non-specific protein binding sites. Sections were then immunolabeled with primary antibodies and fluorescently labeled with secondary antibodies. To detect endothelial cells, the following primary and secondary antibodies were utilized: a rat anti-CD31 (Abcam #ab56299, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom) and a goat, anti-rat IgG-Alexa Fluor 488 conjugated (Abcam #ab150157, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom). To detect vascular smooth muscle cells, the following primary and secondary antibodies were utilized: rabbit anti-alpha smooth muscle actin (α SMA; Abcam #ab124964, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom) and a goat, anti-rabbit IgG-Alexa Fluor 647 conjugated (Abcam #ab150079, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom). To identify MMP-9, the following primary and secondary antibodies were utilized: a mouse anti-MMP-9 purified antibody (Abcam #ab119906, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom) and a goat, anti-mouse IgG-Alexa Fluor 594 conjugated (Abcam #ab150116, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom). For each section, a negative control slide stained with only secondary antibodies were generated. To minimize the signal generated by autofluorescence of the bone marrow, sections were incubated in Sudan Black. Finally, slides were mounted with Prolong Gold with DAPI mounting solution (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, United States) to detect nucleated cells.

Sections were analyzed with a fluorescent microscope (Olympus BX 51, Olympus Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). The negative control slides were used to eliminate background fluorescence. Subsequently, triple-immunolabeled sections were analyzed to detect CD31, α SMA, and MMP-9 without interference of a background signal. CD31, α SMA, and MMP-9 were distinguished with FIT-C, CY5, TRIT-C filters, respectively. In addition, bright-field images of trabecular bone were collected. Images were obtained with NIS Element software (NIS Elements, Nikon, Tokyo, Japan) and subsequently analyzed with Image J software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA).

4.3.3 Bone Vascular Density

The density of bone marrow blood vessels was determined by automated counting of CD31- and α SMA-immunolabeled bone marrow blood vessels. The blood vessels were quantified according to diameter (i.e., 1-29µm, 30-100µm, and 101-200µm) and normalized by tissue area (i.e., the number of blood vessels per mm²). These vessel sizes were chosen to roughly estimate the type of blood vessels. For the sake of simplicity, the smallest blood vessels (1-29µm) are considered as capillaries, with the recognition that arterioles and venules may have diameters within this range. Blood vessels 30-100µm and 101-200µm in diameter were considered arterioles and venules and small arteries and veins, respectively, with

recognition that some designations may overlap according to individual vessel diameter.

4.3.4 Spatial Distribution of Bone Marrow Blood Vessels from Trabecular Bone

Two immunolabeled sections per mouse were used to determine the distances between CD31- and α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone surfaces. At least ten consecutive images (20X) of the secondary spongiosa in the femoral metaphysis were obtained per section. By use of Image J software, images of CD31-, α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone were converted into binary images. Vessels were analyzed according to diameter; i.e., 1-29µm, 30-100µm, and 101-200µm. Euclidian distance maps were generated for each analysis of interest (e.g., 1-29µm CD31-labeled bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone, etc.), and the distances between these two parameters were calculated automatically. Blood vessels >200µm in distance from trabecular bone surfaces were excluded from the analysis, as these vessels were considered too far away to provide blood flow to this section of bone. The same methodologies were employed to assess the distances between α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone surfaces.

4.3.5 MMP-9 Density, Area and Localization

Two immunolabeled sections per bone sample were used to assess MMP-9 density, area and localization. Similar to the blood vessel density measurements, MMP-9 density and area were determined by automated counting and assessment of area of the MMP-9-immunolabeled signal. These measurements were assessed in the secondary spongiosa of the distal femoral metaphysis. The MMP-9 density and area were normalized by tissue area (i.e., the density or area of MMP-9 per mm²). To assess MMP-9 localization from blood vessels (i.e., 1-29µm, 30-100µm, and 101-200µm) and bone, distances between MMP-9 and CD31- and aSMAlabeled blood vessels and MMP-9 and trabecular bone were analyzed. At least ten consecutive images (20X) were acquired per section. Images were converted into binary images with Image J software. Bone marrow blood vessels were analyzed according to diameter and Euclidian distance maps were generated for the analyses of distances from MMP-9 to each diameter range of blood vessels and to trabecular bone. The distances were calculated automatically with the software. To assess whether MMP-9 was localized closer to trabecular bone vs. the blood vessels, age and treatment groups were pooled and distances were analyzed according to vessel diameter (i.e., 1-29µm, 30-100µm, and 101-200µm). MMP-9 localizations >200µm in distance away from blood vessels or bone was excluded from the analysis.
4.3.6 Bone Microarchitecture

Two paraffin sections were stained with Masson's Trichrome to assess bone microarchitecture (i.e., bone volume to total volume ratio (BV/TV, %), trabecular thickness (Tb.Th, μ m), trabecular number (Tb.N, /mm²), and trabecular separation (Tb.Sp, μ m). The analyses were conducted in the secondary spongiosa of the distal femoral metaphysis with the OsteoMeasure bone histomorphometry analysis system (OsteoMetrics, Decatur, GA, United States).

4.3.7 Bone Static Properties

Masson's Trichrome sections were used to determine bone static properties related to osteoblast activity; i.e., osteoid surface to bone surface ratio (OS/BS, %) and osteoblast surface to bone surface ratio (Ob.S/BS, %). To assess bone static properties related to osteoclast activity and bone dynamic properties, another set of mature and middle-aged mice were divided (according to body mass) into the following groups: 1) Mature CON; n=10, 2) Mature 5dPTH; n=10, 3) Mature 10dPTH; n=10, 4) Middle-Aged CON; n=10, 5) Middle-Aged 5dPTH; n=10, and 6) Middle-Aged 10dPTH; n=10. Each group had an equal distribution of female and male mice. At sacrifice, femora were dissected, dehydrated and embedded in methylmethacrylate (MMA) as previously described [3]. Two 5- μ m-thick sections per mouse were used for the histo-enzymatic reaction of Tartrate-Resistant Acidic Phosphatase (TRAP) and osteoclast surface to bone surface ratio (Oc.S/BS, %) was measured. The analyses were conducted in the secondary spongiosa of the distal femoral metaphysis with the OsteoMeasure bone histomorphometry analysis system.

4.3.8 Bone Dynamic Properties

To analyze bone dynamic properties, mice received intraperitoneal injections of tetracycline (25 mg/kg body weight) 7 and 2 days prior to sacrifice. Bone dynamic properties were measured under UV light microscopy from two 5- μ m-thick MMA embedded unstained bone sections per mouse. The following parameters were analyzed: mineral apposition rate (MAR, μ m/day), double-labeled surface per bone surface ratio (dLS/BS, %), and single-labeled surface per bone surface ratio (sLS/BS, %). Mineralizing surfaces per bone surface ratio (MS/BS, %) was calculated with the following formula: dLS/BS + ½ sLS/BS. Bone formation rate (BFR/BS μ m³/ μ m²/day) was derived from the product of MS/BS and MAR. The analyses were conducted in the secondary spongiosa of the distal femoral metaphysis with the OsteoMeasure bone histomorphometry analysis system.

4.3.9 Statistical Analysis

Vascular density, MMP-9 density, MMP-9 area, bone microarchitecture, and bone static and dynamic properties were analyzed with 2×3 (age x treatment) ANOVAs. Distances between CD31- and α SMA-labeled blood vessels and trabecular bone, and MMP-9 and trabecular bone were analyzed with 2×3 ANOVAs. One-way ANOVAs were used to determine differences in body mass and MMP-9 localization in relation to CD31- and α SMA-labeled blood vessels and trabecular bone. Student-Newman-Keuls (SNK) post-hoc tests were performed to assess differences among groups. The significance level of *p*<0.05 was set *a priori*. Data were expressed as mean ± standard error (M ± SE). SPSS statistical software (version 25.0; IBM, Armonk, NY) was used for all analyses.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Mouse Characteristics

Body mass did not differ among groups: Mature CON, $30\pm3g$, Mature 5dPTH, $31\pm2g$, Mature 10dPTH, $31\pm2g$, Middle-Aged CON, $31\pm2g$, Middle-Aged 5dPTH, $31\pm1g$, and Middle-Aged 10dPTH, $30\pm2g$. Since there were no gender-related differences observed with these sample sizes, female and male data were pooled and analyzed according to the group.

4.4.2 Effects of Age and Intermittent PTH Administration on Bone Vascular Density

Table 4.1 presents age-related data for vascular density. Age-related changes were not observed for neither the density of CD31- or α SMA-labeled blood

vessels. However, the density of 30-100µm CD31-labeled blood vessels tended (p=0.064) to be higher in Middle-Aged vs. Mature mice. In contrast to age, main effects for treatment were observed. Figure 4.1 depicts the densities of CD31- and αSMA-labeled blood vessels at 1-29μm, 30-100μm, and 101-200μm. The number of 1-29 μ m CD31-labeled blood vessels was higher (p<0.05) in 10dPTH vs. the other groups (Figure 4.1A). In accord, the density of 30-100µm CD31-labeled blood vessels tended to be higher (p=0.055) following 10 days of PTH treatment (Figure 4.1B), but the density of 101-200µm CD31-labeled blood vessels did not differ (Figure 4.1C). On the contrary, 1-29µm aSMA-labeled blood vessels did not differ among treatment (Figure 4.1D). However, the density of 30-100µm and 101-200 μ m α SMA-labeled blood vessels tended to be higher (p=0.089 and p=0.083, respectively) in 10dPTH vs. 5dPTH (Figure 4.1E and 4.1F). No significant interactions were observed for bone vascular density. Figure 4.1G depicts representative images of CD31- and α SMA-labeled blood vessels in the secondary spongiosa of the distal femur.

CD31	Mature	Middle-Aged
1-29µm	$7.27\pm0.45~/mm^2$	$7.65 \pm 0.51 \ /mm^2$
30-100µm	$0.29\pm0.03~/mm^2$	$0.40 \pm 0.05 \ /mm^2$ ^a
101-200µm	$0.03\pm0.01~/mm^2$	$0.05\pm0.01~/mm^2$
α-SMA	Mature	Middle-Aged
α-SMA 1-29μm	Mature $6.88 \pm 0.38 \text{ /mm}^2$	Middle-Aged $6.86 \pm 0.36 /\text{mm}^2$
α-SMA 1-29μm 30-100μm	Mature $6.88 \pm 0.38 / \text{mm}^2$ $1.08 \pm 0.05 / \text{mm}^2$	Middle-Aged $6.86 \pm 0.36 / \text{mm}^2$ $1.01 \pm 0.04 / \text{mm}^2$
α-SMA 1-29μm 30-100μm 101-200μm	Mature $6.88 \pm 0.38 / \text{mm}^2$ $1.08 \pm 0.05 / \text{mm}^2$ $0.47 \pm 0.03 / \text{mm}^2$	Middle-Aged $6.86 \pm 0.36 / \text{mm}^2$ $1.01 \pm 0.04 / \text{mm}^2$ $0.44 \pm 0.03 / \text{mm}^2$

Table 4.1. The main effect of age on the density of CD31- and α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels.

Values represent Means \pm S.E. ^ap=0.064 vs. Mature. 1-29µm, 30-100µm, and 101-200µm represents vessel diameter.



Figure 4.1. The density of CD31- and α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels following 5- and 10-days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration. Density of CD31-labeled bone marrow blood vessels A) 1-29µm, B) 30-100 µm, and C) 101-200 µm in diameter. Density of α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels D) 1-29µm, E) 30-100 µm, and F) 101-200 µm in diameter. Representative images for G) CD31-labeled bone marrow blood vessels (red arrows) and H) α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels (yellow arrows) following 5- and 10-days of intermittent PTH treatment. Values are means ± S.E. ^a*p*<0.05 vs. CON and 5dPTH; ^b*p*=0.055 vs. CON and 5dPTH; ^e*p*=0.089 vs. 5dPTH; ^f*p*=0.083 vs. 5dPTH.

4.4.3 Effects of Age and Intermittent PTH Administration on MMP-9 Density and Area

There were no main effects for age (Figure 4.2A and 4.2B) nor any significant interactions observed for the density and area of MMP-9. Interestingly, there was a main effect for treatment, such that the density of MMP-9 was augmented (p<0.05) in 10dPTH vs. the other groups (Figure 4.2C). However, the area of MMP-9 (Figure 4.2D) did not differ. Figure 4.2E depicts representative images of MMP-9 in the secondary spongiosa of the distal femoral metaphysis.



Figure 4.2. Main effects for age and treatment on the density and area of MMP-9. No main effects for age were found in MMP-9 A) density and B) area. C) The density of MMP-9 was higher in 10dPTH vs. 5dPTH and CON. D) The area of MMP-9 did not differ among treatment. E) Representative images of MMP-9 (blue arrows) following 5- and 10-days of intermittent PTH administration. Values are means \pm S.E. ^ap<0.05 vs. CON and 5dPTH.

4.4.4 Distances between Bone Marrow Blood Vessels and Trabecular Bone Surfaces

Distances of CD31- and α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels from trabecular bone surfaces are presented in Table 4.2 and Figure 4.3. There were no significant main effects nor interactions. However, 101-200µm α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels tended (p=0.076) to be closer to bone in 10dPTH vs. CON (Figure 4.3B).

CD31	Mature	Middle-Aged
1-29µm from Bone	$128.5\pm2.4\mu m$	$125.1\pm2.7~\mu m$
30-100µm from Bone	$152.8\pm4.6\mu m$	$146.8\pm6.8\mu m$
101-200µm from Bone	$130.1\pm7.0\mu m$	$135.3\pm13.2~\mu m$
α-SMA	Mature	Middle-Aged
1-29µm from Bone	$129.2\pm2.7\mu m$	$124.1\pm2.3\mu m$
30-100µm from Bone	$130.6\pm2.2\mu m$	$130.4\pm3.4~\mu m$
101-200µm from Bone	$126.7\pm5.6\mu m$	$126.2\pm5.0~\mu m$
Values represent Means \pm S.E.		

Table 4.2. The main effect of age on the distance of CD31- and α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels from trabecular bone.

1-29µm, 30-100µm, and 101-200µm represents vessel diameter.



Figure 4.3. The distance of CD31- and αSMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels from trabecular bone following 5- and 10-days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration. A) Distances between 1-29µm, 30-100µm 101-200µm CD31-

to treatment. B) Distances between 1-29μm, 30-100μm 101-200μm αSMA-

labeled bone marrow blood vessels from trabecular bone did not differ according

labeled bone marrow blood vessels from trabecular bone did not differ according to treatment Values are means \pm S.E. ^bp=0.076 vs. CON.

4.4.5 Distances between MMP-9, Bone Marrow Blood Vessels, and Trabecular Bone Surfaces

There were no significant main effects for age (Table 4.3) or treatment (Table 4.4) observed for distances of MMP-9 to CD31- and α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels, and trabecular bone surface. Table 4.4 demonstrates that 10 days of intermittent PTH administration tended (p=0.096) to reduce the distance between MMP-9 and 1-29µm CD31-labeled bone blood vessels vs. CON.

CD31	Mature	Middle-Aged
MMP-9 from 1-29µm	$70.6\pm1.5~\mu m$	$65.8\pm2.9\mu m$
MMP-9 from 30-100µm	$96.3\pm1.5~\mu m$	$95.3\pm3.1\mu m$
MMP-9 from 101-200µm	$99.6\pm5.0\mu m$	$100.1\pm3.8\mu m$
α-SMA	Mature	Middle-Aged
MMP-9 from 1-29µm	$88.0\pm1.4~\mu m$	$90.7\pm1.6\mu m$
MMP-9 from 30-100µm	$110.3\pm0.9\mu m$	$109.8\pm1.2\mu m$
MMP-9 from 101-200µm	$108.8\pm1.6\mu m$	$111.7\pm1.1\mu m$
MMP-9 from Bone	$130.6 \pm 2.7 \mu\mathrm{m}$	$123.0\pm3.7\mu\text{m}$
Values represent Means \pm S.E.		

Table 4.3. The main effect of age on the distance of MMP-9 from CD31and α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone.

1-29 μ m, 30-100 μ m, and 101-200 μ m represents vessel diameter.

CON	5dPTH	10dPTH
$72.1\pm2.8\mu m$	$68.6\pm2.6\mu m$	$63.6 \pm 2.8 \mu m^{a}$
$93.2\pm3.0\mu m$	$97.6\pm3.3\mu m$	$96.6\pm2.0\mu m$
$100.9\pm6.1~\mu m$	$100.8\pm6.8\mu m$	$98.0\pm3.5~\mu m$
CON	5dPTH	10dPTH
$87.5\pm2.0\mu m$	$88.0\pm1.6\mu m$	$92.7\pm1.5\mu m$
$108.1\pm1.1~\mu m$	$110.5\pm1.4~\mu m$	$111.6\pm1.2\mu\text{m}$
$110.0\pm1.6\mu m$	$108.9\pm1.7~\mu m$	$112.0\pm1.7\mu\text{m}$
	CON $72.1 \pm 2.8 \ \mu m$ $93.2 \pm 3.0 \ \mu m$ $100.9 \pm 6.1 \ \mu m$ RRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRR	CON5dPTH $72.1 \pm 2.8 \mu m$ $68.6 \pm 2.6 \mu m$ $93.2 \pm 3.0 \mu m$ $97.6 \pm 3.3 \mu m$ $100.9 \pm 6.1 \mu m$ $100.8 \pm 6.8 \mu m$ $100.5 \pm 2.0 \mu m$ $88.0 \pm 1.6 \mu m$ $108.1 \pm 1.1 \mu m$ $110.5 \pm 1.4 \mu m$ $110.0 \pm 1.6 \mu m$ $108.9 \pm 1.7 \mu m$

Table 4.4. The main effect of treatment on the distance of MMP-9 from CD31- and α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone.

4.4.6 MMP-9 Localization in Relation to Bone Marrow Blood Vessels and Trabecular Bone

To ascertain whether MMP-9 is secreted from trabecular bone or the bone marrow blood vessels, the CD31- and α SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels were pooled and analyzed according to diameter (1-29µm, 30-100µm, and 101-200µm). Figure 4.4 shows the distance of MMP-9 in relation to bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone. Contrary to our hypothesis, MMP-9 was localized closest (*p*<0.05) to the 1-29µm bone marrow blood vessel and localized farthest (*p*<0.05) from trabecular bone. The localization of MMP-9 was also further away (*p*<0.05) from bone marrow blood vessels 30-100µm and 101-200µm in comparison to the 1-29µm blood vessels.



Figure 4.4. Comparison of MMP-9 localization in relation to bone marrow blood vessels (1-29 μ m, 30-100 μ m 101-200 μ m in diameter) and trabecular bone. Values are means \pm S.E. ^ap<0.05 vs. 30-100 μ m, 101-200 μ m, and trabecular bone; ^bp<0.05 vs. 1-29 μ m and trabecular bone; ^cp<0.05 vs. 1-29 μ m, 30-100 μ m, and 101-200 μ m.

4.4.7 Bone Microarchitecture and Bone Static and Dynamic Properties

Table 4.5 presents data for bone microarchitecture and bone static and dynamic properties. As anticipated, no main effects for age or treatment, nor any significant interactions were observed.

	Mature CON	Mature 5dPTH	Mature 10dPTH	Middle- Aged CON	Middle- Aged 5dPTH	Middle- Aged 10dPTH
Bone Microarchitecture						
BV/TV (%)	2.6±0.7	3.3±0.3	4.0 ± 0.8	3.0±0.9	2.4±0.6	3.1±0.3
Tb.Th (µm)	22±2	22±1	23±1	22±2	19±1	21±4
Tb.N /mm ²	1.1±0.3	1.5±0.2	1.9±0.5	1.3±0.3	1.2±0.3	1.2±0.3
Tb.Sp (µm)	2472± 1061	718± 80	885± 247	1386± 403	1327± 402	2087± 898
Bone Static Properties						
Osteoblast Activity						
OS/BS (%)	4.0±0.9	4.4±1.2	7.4±1.4	6.0±1.5	4.5±0.7	4.7±1.5
Ob.S/BS (%)	1.8±0.4	1.9±0.3	1.9±0.2	1.8±0.5	2.2±0.5	1.8±0.2
Osteoclast Activity						
Oc.S/BS (%)	1.6±0.2	1.8±0.3	1.7±0.4	2.1±0.4	2.3±0.5	1.2±0.4
Bone Dynamic Properties						
MAR (µm/day)	0.16±0.03	0.20±0.03	0.16±0.02	0.19±0.03	0.19±0.03	0.17±0.03
sLS/BS (%)	2.50±0.31	2.39±0.31	2.55±0.15	2.02±0.23	2.07±0.22	2.34±0.20
dLS/BS (%)	0.68±0.14	0.92±0.14	1.01±0.18	0.80±0.11	0.92±0.17	0.96±0.52
MS/BS (%)	1.92±0.29	2.11±0.25	0.29±0.24	1.81±0.21	1.95±0.25	2.13±0.23
BFR/BS $(\mu m^3 / \mu m^2 / day)$	0.0032± 0.0006	0.0047± 0.0011	0.0039± 0.0007	0.0035± 0.0006	0.0039± 0.0008	0.0037 ± 0.0008

Table 5. Bone microarchitecture and bone static and dynamic properties.

Values represent Means \pm S.E.

4.5 Discussion

The principal outcomes of this study demonstrate that 10 days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration augmented the number of capillaries (i.e., 1-29µm diameter) (Figure 4.1). Thus, angiogenesis occurred prior to changes in trabecular bone microarchitecture and bone static and dynamic properties (Table 4.5). Furthermore, MMP-9 secretion was not augmented prior to 10 days of intermittent PTH administration (Figure 4.2) and was localized closest to capillaries in comparison to the larger sized vessels and trabecular bone (Figure 4.4).

Previous investigations demonstrated improved bone vascular function with intermittent PTH administration [4, 5, 10]. For example, endothelium-dependent vasodilator capacity of the femoral PNA was improved following 2 weeks of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration in young Wistar rats [5] and following 2 weeks of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration in old Fischer-344 rats [10]. However, discrepancies exist as to whether intermittent PTH administration enhances bone blood vessel number. For instance, lower vascular density was observed in the proximal tibia following 15- and 30-days of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration in Wistar rats [3]; however, vascular density was higher in tibiae following 14 days of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration in C57BL/6J mice [6]. Consistent with the previous mouse data [6], angiogenesis was induced with PTH treatment and occurred more rapidly than previously reported. In addition, vessels <100µm in diameter were most effected by PTH, coinciding with reports of

angiogenesis in blood vessels <90µm and <105µm in diameter following intermittent PTH 1-34 administration for 21 days and 28 days, respectively, in a mouse model of bone healing [23]. Similarly, bone angiogenesis was reported following 2 weeks of intermittent PTH administration in mice, which coincided with increased trabecular thickness and bone formation rate, decreased osteoclast activity but no change in bone volume [6]. The discrepancies in findings between the rat and mouse data may represent different physiological responses between the two species.

Similar to the data presented by Roche et al. [6], bone microarchitecture and bone static and dynamic properties were unaltered in the current study. Data from both studies indicate that changes in bone cellular activity with intermittent PTH administration occurs later than 10 days of treatment but are significantly altered by day 14. This outcome was anticipated due to the relatively short duration (5- and 10-days) of intermittent PTH administration. In accord, other studies have documented rapid alterations in the bone vascular system with PTH [6, 7]. For example, blood flow to the mouse hindlimb was augmented following a bolus dose of PTH 1-34, whereas it takes at least 2 week to observe alterations in bone [3, 5, 7]. In addition, 14 days of intermittent PTH 1-84 administration not only augmented bone blood vessels density by 16% and vessels area by 48%, but also increased bone perfusion by 27% and decreased bone vascular resistance by 23% [6].

Bone angiogenesis occurred rapidly in this investigation; i.e., bone vascular density was augmented 32% to 63% by 10 days of treatment. In addition, the current study reveals a possible association between intermittent PTH 1-34 administration and MMP-9-mediated angiogenesis in mice. Since MMP-9 plays a pivotal role in extracellular remodeling, which is crucial for vascular outgrowth and endothelial progenitor cell migration, it may promote angiogenesis and neovascularization [13, 14]. The role of MMP-9 in angiogenesis is initiated by vascular extracellular matrix degradation which facilitates endothelial cells invasion and outgrowth [24] and further stimulate the release of vascular endothelial growth factor [13]. For example, ischemic collateral blood flow was \sim 39% lower in MMP-9 deficient vs. wild-type mice, which coincided with reduced capillary density in the MMP-9 knockout animals [13]. Similarly, MMP-9 stimulated the migration of umbilical cord blood CD34+ cells [19], which plays an important role in angiogenesis [25, 26]. Similar to the current investigation, intermittent PTH administration increased the expression of MMP-9 in chondrocytes [27], in the rat long bone, and in bone tissue cultures [15]. For example, 5 days of intermittent PTH administration upregulated protein content of MMP-9 in mature osteoblasts and osteocytes from the tibial metaphysis and in cultures of osteoblasts and osteocytes [15]. Even though the total area of secreted MMP-9 was unaltered, the current study demonstrated increased (p < 0.05) MMP-9 density following 10 days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration in the distal

femoral metaphysis. Thus, increased secretion of MMP-9 with intermittent PTH administration may contribute to bone angiogenesis.

In addition to its role in matrix degradation, MMP-9 is involved in cellular migration and homing [19, 20]. In a previous investigation, intermittent PTH administration relocated small bone marrow blood vessels closer to osteoid seams [3]. Further, bone vascular density was lower in the PTH-treated vs. vehicle-treated rats [3]. Unfortunately, MMP-9 secretion was not measured in that investigation [3]; thus, the role of MMP-9 in blood vessel relocation could not be ascertained. MMP-9 density was also increased in this current investigation following 10 days of PTH administration. However, there was no differences in blood vessel distance from bone. Unfortunately, due to methodology limitations, the current investigation was unable to distinguish quiescent bone surfaces from active bone forming sites, as demonstrated in a previous study [3]. Thus, the spatial relationship between bone marrow blood vessels and osteoid seams was not measurable.

In the current investigation, I hypothesized that MMP-9 would be secreted from bone tissue, allowing for the attraction of bone marrow blood vessels closer to trabecular bone with PTH treatment. However, MMP-9 was spatially closer to the smallest blood vessels ($<29\mu$ m) and further away from trabecular bone. MMP-9 secretion is not limited to osteoclasts, osteoblasts and osteocytes [15, 28], but are produced and released from other cells such as vascular endothelial cells [29]. Thus, given its closer proximity to capillaries (<29µm), it is possible that MMP-9 was secreted from the vascular endothelial cells.

In conclusion, current results demonstrate that the density of the smallest blood vessels (1-29µm) was augmented following 10 days of intermittent PTH 1-34 administration; i.e., at a time point when trabecular bone was not altered. In addition, MMP-9 secretion was enhanced by day 10, which presumably stimulated angiogenesis. Further, MMP-9 was localized closest to the smallest blood vessels, while localized farthest away from trabecular bone. Given the rapid response in bone angiogenesis (i.e., within 10 days), this investigation highlights the impact of intermittent PTH administration on the bone vascular network.

4.6 Conflicts of Interest

Seungyong Lee and Rhonda D. Prisby declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

4.7 Acknowledgements

This study was supported by grants from the University of Delaware Research Foundation Strategic Initiative Grant.

4.8 References

- 1. Henriksen, K., et al., Local communication on and within bone controls bone remodeling. Bone, 2009. 44(6): p. 1026-1033.
- Neuprez, A. and J.-Y. Reginster, Bone-forming agents in the management of osteoporosis. Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2008. 22(5): p. 869-883.
- Rhonda, P., et al., Intermittent PTH(1–84) is osteoanabolic but not osteoangiogenic and relocates bone marrow blood vessels closer to boneforming sites. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2011. 26(11): p. 2583-2596.
- Benson, T., et al., Mechanisms of vasodilation to PTH 1–84, PTH 1–34, and PTHrP 1–34 in rat bone resistance arteries. Osteoporosis International, 2016. 27(5): p. 1817-1826.
- Prisby, R., T. Menezes, and J. Campbell, Vasodilation to PTH (1-84) in bone arteries is dependent upon the vascular endothelium and is mediated partially via VEGF signaling. Bone, 2013. 54(1): p. 68-75.
- Roche, B., et al., Parathyroid hormone 1-84 targets bone vascular structure and perfusion in mice: impacts of its administration regimen and of ovariectomy. J Bone Miner Res, 2014. 29(7): p. 1608-18.
- 7. Gohin, S., et al., The anabolic action of intermittent parathyroid hormone on cortical bone depends partly on its ability to induce nitric oxide-mediated

vasorelaxation in BALB/c mice. Cell Biochemistry and Function, 2016. 34(2): p. 52-62.

- Kapitola, J. and J. Zák, [Effect of parathormone on bone blood flow in rats--possible role of NO]. Sbornik lekarsky, 2003. 104(2): p. 133-137.
- Brookes M, R.W., Blood Supply of Bone: Scientific Aspects. 1998, London, Great Britain: Springer-Verlag.
- Lee, S., et al., Intermittent PTH 1–34 administration improves the marrow microenvironment and endothelium-dependent vasodilation in bone arteries of aged rats. Journal of Applied Physiology, 2018. 124(6): p. 1426-1437.
- Burkhardt, R., et al., Changes in trabecular bone, hematopoiesis and bone marrow vessels in aplastic anemia, primary osteoporosis, and old age: A comparative histomorphometric study. Bone, 1987. 8(3): p. 157-164.
- Lu, C., et al., Effect of age on vascularization during fracture repair. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society, 2008. 26(10): p. 1384-1389.
- Huang, P.-H., et al., Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 Is Essential for Ischemia-Induced Neovascularization by Modulating Bone Marrow–Derived Endothelial Progenitor Cells. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 2009. 29(8): p. 1179-1184.

- 14. Vu, T.H., et al., MMP-9/Gelatinase B Is a Key Regulator of Growth Plate Angiogenesis and Apoptosis of Hypertrophic Chondrocytes. Cell, 1998.
 93(3): p. 411-422.
- McClelland, P., et al., Intermittent administration of parathyroid hormone (1-34) stimulates matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) expression in rat long bone. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 1998. 70(3): p. 391-401.
- Blavier, L. and J.M. Delaisse, Matrix metalloproteinases are obligatory for the migration of preosteoclasts to the developing marrow cavity of primitive long bones. Journal of Cell Science, 1995. 108(12): p. 3649-3659.
- Engsig, M.T., et al., Matrix Metalloproteinase 9 and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Are Essential for Osteoclast Recruitment into Developing Long Bones. The Journal of Cell Biology, 2000. 151(4): p. 879-890.
- Scott, J.A., et al., The multifunctional Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent kinase II regulates vascular smooth muscle migration through matrix metalloproteinase 9. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 2012. 302(10): p. H1953-H1964.
- Rao, Q., et al., Production of matrix metalloproteinase-9 by cord blood CD34+ cells and its role in migration. Annals of Hematology, 2004. 83(7): p. 409-413.
- 20. Xuefeng, Y., et al., Stromal Cell-Derived Factor-1 (SDF-1) Recruits Osteoclast Precursors by Inducing Chemotaxis, Matrix Metalloproteinase-

9 (MMP-9) Activity, and Collagen Transmigration. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2003. 18(8): p. 1404-1418.

- Zhenqiang, Y., et al., Increase of Both Angiogenesis and Bone Mass in Response to Exercise Depends on VEGF. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2004. 19(9): p. 1471-1480.
- 22. Verhaar, H.J.J. and W.F. Lems, PTH-analogs: Comparable or different?Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 2009. 49(2): p. e130-e132.
- 23. Dhillon, R.S., et al., PTH Enhanced Structural Allograft Healing is Associated with Decreased Angiopoietin-2 Mediated Arteriogenesis, Mast Cell Accumulation and Fibrosis. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, 2013. 28(3): p. 586-597.
- Heissig, B., et al., Recruitment of Stem and Progenitor Cells from the Bone Marrow Niche Requires MMP-9 Mediated Release of Kit-Ligand. Cell, 2002. 109(5): p. 625-637.
- Coussens, L.M., et al., MMP-9 Supplied by Bone Marrow–Derived Cells Contributes to Skin Carcinogenesis. Cell, 2000. 103(3): p. 481-490.
- Ning, G., et al., Human umbilical cord blood stem cells for spinal cord injury: early transplantation results in better local angiogenesis. Regenerative Medicine, 2013. 8(3): p. 271-281.

- 27. Kawashima-Ohya, Y., et al., Effects of Parathyroid Hormone (PTH) and PTH-Related Peptide on Expressions of Matrix Metalloproteinase- 2, -3, and -9 in Growth Plate Chondrocyte Cultures*. Endocrinology, 1998. 139(4): p. 2120-2127.
- 28. Munaut, C., et al., Murine Matrix Metalloproteinase 9 Gene: 5'-Upsteam Region Contains Cis-Acting Elements for Expression in Osteoclasts and Migrating Keratinocytes in Transgenic Mice. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1999. 274(9): p. 5588-5596.
- Zozulya, A., C. Weidenfeller, and H.-J. Galla, Pericyte–endothelial cell interaction increases MMP-9 secretion at the blood–brain barrier in vitro. Brain Research, 2008. 1189: p. 1-11.

Chapter 5

Future Directions

This dissertation examined the age-related effects of short-term intermittent PTH 1-34 administration on bone marrow blood vessel ossification, spatial relocation of bone marrow blood vessels, angiogenesis, and MMP-9 in mice. Additionally, bone microarchitecture and bone static and dynamic properties were assessed. While much information was ascertained, more questions were raised regarding the duration of intermittent PTH administration, the spatial location of bone marrow blood vessels in regards bone forming sites (i.e., osteoid seams), and bone blood flow measurements.

The findings on bone marrow blood vessel ossification demonstrated augmented ossified vessel thickness in the Middle-Aged vs. Mature mice. In addition, ossified vessel volume tended to increase as a function of advancing age and ossified vessel thickness tended to increase following 10-day of intermittent PTH administration. These tendencies suggest that the duration of PTH administration in the current dissertation was too short to observe significant differences. It seems reasonable to assume that longer duration studies would yield significant changes in bone marrow blood vessel ossification.

In Specific Aim 2, examined bone vascular density and bone marrow blood vessel relocation. Technical limitations in methodology prevented the distinction between quiescent bone surfaces vs. sites of bone formation (i.e., osteoid). Thus, future studies may include assessing vascular density and bone marrow blood vessel location in relation to quiescent bone surfaces separate from osteoid seams.

Further, while able to determine MMP-9 localization in relation to trabecular bone and bone marrow blood vessels, it was not possible to assess which cells were producing and releasing MMP-9 with intermittent PTH administration. Thus, future studies utilizing cultured cells exposed to varying concentration of PTH would allow for this determination. For example, cell culture media could be assayed for MMP-9 following exposure of endothelial, smooth muscle and MC3T3-E1 (i.e., pre-osteoblasts) cells to PTH.

In addition, identification of genome regions linked to vascular calcification and ossification may be required. Thus, the discovery of the gene mutation that may regulate vascular extracellular matrix calcium deposition and phosphate production in the bone marrow microenvironment would be invaluable.

Lastly, the assessment of in vivo bone blood flow in conscious mice following intermittent PTH administration would be invaluable. While technically challenging, these data would surpass the bone perfusion data currently available in the literature and perhaps allow for the definitive conclusion as to whether intermittent PTH administration augments skeletal blood flow. Appendix A Reproducibility of Distance Measurements between Bone Marrow Blood Vessels and Trabecular Bone

Group	Variable	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	F	Р
Mature CON	CD31 (1-29µm)	161.3 ± 7.3 (µm)	161.3 ± 7.3 (µm)	161.3 ± 7.3 (µm)	0.00	1.00
	α-SMA (1-29μm)	105.7 ± 17.8 (µm)	105.7 ± 17.8 (µm)	105.7 ± 17.8 (µm)	0.00	1.00
Mature 5dPTH	CD31 (1-29µm)	159.8 ± 21.1 (µm)	159.8 ± 21.1 (µm)	159.8 ± 21.1 (µm)	0.00	1.00
	α-SMA (1-29μm)	159.0 ± 22.8 (μ m)	159.0 ± 22.8 (µm)	159.0 ± 22.8 (µm)	0.00	1.00
Mature 10dPTH	CD31 (1-29µm)	199.5 ± 21.2 (µm)	199.5 ± 21.2 (µm)	199.5 ± 21.2 (µm)	0.00	1.00
	α-SMA (1-29μm)	189.2 ± 30.3 (µm)	189.2 ± 30.3 (µm)	189.2 ± 30.3 (µm)	0.00	1.00
Middle-Aged CON	CD31 (1-29µm)	134.2 ± 8.1 (µm)	134.2 ± 8.1 (µm)	134.2 ± 8.1 (µm)	0.00	1.00
	α-SMA (1-29μm)	104.5 ± 15.8 (µm)	104.5 ± 15.8 (μ m)	104.5 ± 15.8 (μ m)	0.00	1.00
Middle-Aged 5dPTH	CD31 (1-29µm)	199.9 ± 27.8 (μ m)	199.9 ± 27.8 (µm)	199.9 ± 27.8 (µm)	0.00	1.00
	α-SMA (1-29μm)	106.4 ± 29.0 (µm)	106.4 ± 29.0 (µm)	106.4 ± 29.0 (µm)	0.00	1.00
Middle-Aged 10dPTH	CD31 (1-29µm)	69.0 ± 10.5 (µm)	69.0 ± 10.5 (μm)	69.0 ± 10.5 (μm)	0.00	1.00
	α-SMA (1-29μm)	175.1 ± 28.9 (µm)	175.1 ± 28.9 (μm)	175.1 ± 28.9 (μm)	0.00	1.00

Appendix A. Reproducibility of distance measurements between CD31- and α -SMA-labeled bone marrow blood vessels and trabecular bone in Mature mice.

Values represent Means \pm S.E. One-way ANOVA with repeated measure was used.

Biographical Information

Seungyong Lee, Ph.D., is a native of South Korea and researcher whose career in exercise and applied physiology extends over eight years. He received a bachelor's degree in Physical Education from Dankook University in 2006, a master's degree in Exercise Physiology from University of Kentucky in 2013, and Ph.D. in Kinesiology from the University of Texas at Arlington in 2018. His research interests is focused on the interactions between blood vessels and bone in rodent models. He examined the effects of intermittent PTH administration on the bone vascular system, bone microarchitecture, and bone static and dynamic properties as a function of advancing age in mice.

During his tenure as a Ph.D. student, Seungyong has been awarded several fellowships and awards including a Summer Dissertation Fellowship 2018 from the University of Texas at Arlington, a Cardiovascular Section Research Recognition Award from the American Physiological Society, a Dean's Award for Outstanding Poster Presentation at the 2017 Annual Celebration of Excellence by Students Symposium at the University of Texas at Arlington, and a Caroline tum Suden / Frances Hellebrandt Professional Opportunity Award in 2016 from the American Physiological Society. Additionally, he has published two manuscripts and submitted two first-author manuscripts related to his dissertation. He will be a co-author on three additional manuscripts currently under review and a co-author on multiple manuscripts to be submitted in the future. To date, he had seven first-

author and three co-author published abstracts presented at national and international conferences. He will continue his training as a post-doctoral fellow in the Department of Pathology at Johns Hopkins Medicine, where he will investigate the influence of pericytes and nerve innervation on bone healing and regeneration. Currently, he is a member of the Bone Vascular and Microcirculatory Society (BVMS), American Society for Bone Mineral Research (ASBMR), American Physiological Society (APS), and American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM).